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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,

SELECT COMMITTEE TO

INVESTIGATE THE

JANUARY 6TH ATTACK ON THE

UNITED STATES CAPITOL,
Washington, DC,
December 00, 2022.

Hon. CHERYL L. JOHNSON,
Clerk, U.S. House of Representatives,
Washington, DC.

DEAR MS. JOHNSON: By direction of the Select
Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the
United States Capitol, I hereby transmit its final report
pursuant to section 4(a) of House Resolution 503, 117th
Congress.

Sincerely,

BENNIE G. THOMPSON,
Chairman.







FOREWORD: SPEAKER OF THE HOUSE
“THE LAST BEST HOPE OF EARTH”

“I do solemnly swear that | will support and defend the Constitution of
the United States against all enemies, foreign and domestic; that I will
bear true faith and allegiance to the same; that | take this obligation
freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I
will well and faithfully discharge the duties of the office on which | am
about to enter: So help me God.”

All Members of the United States Congress take this sacred oath. On January
6, 2021, Democrats and Republicans agreed that we would fulfill this oath—
and that we had an obligation to signal to the world that American Democ-
racy would prevail.

In furtherance of fulfilling this duty, the Select Committee to Investi-
gate the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol was charged with
investigating the facts, circumstances and causes that led to this domestic
terror attack on the Capitol, the Congress and the Constitution.

We owe a debt of gratitude to Chairman Bennie Thompson, Vice Chair
Liz Cheney, the patriotic Members of Congress and dedicated staff —who
devoted themselves to this investigation, to uncovering the truth and to
writing a report that is a “Roadmap for Justice.”

The Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack has suc-
ceeded in bringing clarity and demonstrating with painstaking detail the
fragility of our Democracy. Above all, the work of the Select Committee
underscores that our democratic institutions are only as strong as the com-
mitment of those who are entrusted with their care.

As the Select Committee concludes its work, their words must be a
clarion call to all Americans: to vigilantly
guard our Democracy and to give our vote
only to those dutiful in their defense of our
Constitution.

Let us always honor our oath to, as
Abraham Lincoln said, “nobly save, or
meanly lose, the last best hope of earth.”
So help us God.

NANCY PELOSI
Speaker of the House



FOREWORD: CHAIRMAN

We were told to remove our lapel pins. At the start of every new Congress,
House Members are presented with lapel pins. They are about the size of a
quarter and carry a seal of a bald eagle.

On a routine day in the Capitol, there are thousands of tourists, advo-
cates, and workers. Typically, the pins are an easy way to spot House Mem-
bers.

However, on January 6, 2021, the pin that once was a badge of honor
and distinction turned into a bullseye.

On that day, tear gas fogged the air as gunfire rang out, and a violent
mob crashed against the sealed doors. Concerned for our safety, Capitol
Police officers told us that our lapel pins would make us a target for rioters.

As the Capitol Police rushed Members of Congress and staff to safety,
that simple and, in context, sensible warning stuck with me. On January 6,
2021, my colleagues and I came to work with the intent of fulfilling our
oaths of office and constitutional duty to carry out the peaceful transfer of
power. We were the people’s representatives in the people’s House doing
the people’s business. Sadly, on that day, the danger was too great for our
work to continue and for us to remain in the Capitol. It was too dangerous
to be identified as a representative of the American people.

I’ve been a Member of the House for nearly 30 years. In that time,
there’s not a day that goes by that I don’t feel a profound sense of duty and
responsibility to the men and women who sent me to Congress to be their
voice. After all, I’m from a part of the country where, in my lifetime, Black
people were excluded entirely from political processes. Jim Crow laws pre-
vented my father from registering to vote, and tragically during his life, he
never cast a vote.

For generations, the people in communities I represent have struggled
to have their voices heard by their government. Therefore, I take my duties
and responsibilities seriously, advocating for greater economic opportunity,
robust infrastructure, better schools, and safer housing for my constitu-
ents.

However, that long struggle to overcome oppression and secure basic
civil and human rights continues to be my highest priority. I am always
mindful of the journey that brought me to Washington as a member of
Congress to be the voice of the women and men of Mississippi. As a violent
mob stormed the Capitol trying to take away people’s votes, rioters carried
the battle flag from a failed rebellion of confederate states. This moment
resonated deeply with me because of my personal history. Additionally, I
continually think about the ongoing struggle to ensure justice and equality
for all Americans.
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The Capitol building itself is a fixture in our country’s history, of both
good and bad. After all, this structure is among the most recognizable sym-
bols of American democracy. The Capitol’s shining dome, topped with the
statue of goddess Freedom, was built partially by the labor of enslaved
people in the 18th and 19th centuries. Dark chapters of America’s history
are written into the building’s marble, sandstone, and mortar. And yet in
the halls and chambers of this building, leaders of courage passed amend-
ments to our Constitution and enacted the laws that banned slavery, guar-
anteed equal rights under the law, expanded the vote, promoted equality,
and moved our country, and her people, forward. The Capitol Building itself
is a symbol of our journey toward a more perfect union. It is a temple to our
democracy.

Those great moments in our history have come when men and women
put loyalty to our country and Constitution ahead of politics and party.
They did the right thing. The work of the Select Committee certainly origi-
nates from the same tradition. Our bipartisan membership has moved poli-
tics to the side and focused on the facts, circumstances, and causes of
January 6th.

When I think back to January 6th, after nearly a year and a half of
investigation, I am frightened about the peril our democracy faced. Specifi-
cally, I think about what that mob was there to do: to block the peaceful
transfer of power from one president to another based on a lie that the
election was rigged and tainted with widespread fraud.

I also think about why the rioters were there, besieging the legislative
branch of our government. The rioters were inside the halls of Congress
because the head of the executive branch of our government, the then-
President of the United States, told them to attack. Donald Trump sum-
moned that mob to Washington, DC. Afterward, he sent them to the Capitol
to try to prevent my colleagues and me from doing our Constitutional duty
to certify the election. They put our very democracy to the test.

Trump’s mob came dangerously close to succeeding. Courageous law
enforcement officers put their lives on the line for hours while Trump sat in
the White House, refusing to tell the rioters to go home, while watching the
assault on our republic unfold live on television.

When it was clear the insurrection would fail, Trump finally called off
the mob, telling them, “We love you.” Afterward, Congress was able to
return to this Capitol Building and finish the job of counting the Electoral
College votes and certifying the election.

This is the key conclusion of the Select Committee, all nine of us,
Republicans and Democrats alike.
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But who knows what would have happened if Trump’s mob had suc-
ceeded in stopping us from doing our job? Who knows what sort of consti-
tutional grey zone our country would have slid into? Who would have been
left to correct that wrong?

As required by House Resolution 503, which established the Select
Committee, we’ve explored in great detail the facts, circumstances, and
causes of the attack. This report will provide new details that supplement
those findings the committee already presented during our hearings.

But there are some questions for which there are still no clear answers,
even if all the facts, circumstances, and causes are brought to bear. The
“What If?” questions. For the good of American democracy, those questions
must never again be put to the test. So, while it’s important that this report
lays out what happened, it’s just as important to focus on how to make sure
that January 6th was a one-time event—to identify the ongoing threats
that could lead us down that dangerous path again—with hopes and
humble prayers that the committee’s work is carried on through corrective
action.

This report will provide greater detail about the multistep effort devised
and driven by Donald Trump to overturn the 2020 election and block the
transfer of power. Building on the information presented in our hearings
earlier this year, we will present new findings about Trump’s pressure
campaign on officials from the local level all the way up to his Vice Presi-
dent, orchestrated and designed solely to throw out the will of the voters
and keep him in office past the end of his elected term.

As we’ve shown previously, this plan faltered at several points because
of the courage of officials (nearly all of them Republicans) who refused to
go along with it. Donald Trump appeared to believe that anyone who shared
his partisan affiliation would also share the same callous disregard for his
or her oath to uphold the rule of law. Fortunately, he was wrong.

The failure of Trump’s plan was not assured. To the contrary, Trump’s
plan was successful at several turns. When his scheme to stay in power
through political pressure hit roadblocks, he relentlessly pushed ahead with
a parallel plan: summoning a mob to gather in Washington, DC on January
6th, promising things “will be wild!”

That mob showed up. They were armed. They were angry. They believed
the “Big Lie” that the election had been stolen. And when Donald Trump
pointed them toward the Capitol and told them to “fight like hell,” that’s
exactly what they did.

Donald Trump lit that fire. But in the weeks beforehand, the kindling he
ultimately ignited was amassed in plain sight.
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That’s why as part of the Select Committee’s investigation, we took a
hard look at whether enough was done to mitigate that risk. Our investiga-
tive teams focused on the way intelligence was gathered, shared, and
assessed. We probed preparations by law enforcement agencies and security
responses on the day of the attack. We followed the money, to determine
who paid for a number of events in the run-up to the attack and to gain a
clearer understanding of the way the former President’s campaign appara-
tus cashed in on the big lie. And we pulled back the curtain at certain major
social media companies to determine if their policies and protocols were up
to the challenge when the President spread a message of violence and his
supporters began to plan and coordinate their descent on Washington.

The Select Committee’s conclusion on these matters—particularly
dealing with intelligence and law enforcement—is consistent with our
broader findings about the causes of January 6th. Were agencies perfect in
their preparations for January 6th and their responses as the violence
unfolded? Of course not. Relevant oversight committees and watchdogs
should continue to find efficiencies and improvements, some of which are
laid out in Committee’s recommendations.

But the shortfall of communications, intelligence and law enforcement
around January 6th was much less about what they did or did not know. It
was more about what they could not know. The President of the United
States inciting a mob to march on the Capitol and impede the work of Con-
gress is not a scenario our intelligence and law enforcement communities
envisioned for this country. Prior to January 6th, it was unimaginable.
Whatever weaknesses existed in the policies, procedures, or institutions,
they were not to blame for what happened on that day.

And so, when I think about the ongoing threats—when I think about
how to avoid having to confront those “What-Ifs?” in the future—my con-
cerns are less with the mechanics of intelligence gathering and security
posture, as important as those questions are. My concerns remain first and
foremost with those who continue to seek power at the expense of Ameri-
can democracy.

What if those election officials had given in to Donald Trump’s pres-
sure? What if the Justice Department had gone along with Trump’s scheme
to declare the 2020 election fraudulent? What if the Vice President had tried
to throw out electoral votes? What if the rioters bent on stopping the
peaceful transfer of power hadn’t been repelled?

To cast a vote in the United States of America is an act of both hope and
faith. When you drop that ballot in the ballot box, you do so with the confi-
dence that every person named on that ballot will hold up their end of the
bargain. The person who wins must swear an oath and live up to it. The
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people who come up short must accept the ultimate results and abide by the
will of the voters and the rule of law. This faith in our institutions and laws
is what upholds our democracy.

If that faith is broken—if those who seek power accept only the results
of elections that they win—then American democracy, only a few centuries
old, comes tumbling down.

That’s the danger.

What'’s the solution?

The Committee believes a good starting point is the set of recommen-
dations we set forth in our report, pursuant to House Resolution 503.
Driven by our investigative findings, these recommendations will help
strengthen the guardrails of our democracy.

Beyond what we recommend, in my view and as I said during our hear-
ings, the best way to prevent another January 6th is to ensure accountabil -
ity for January 6th. Accountability at all levels.

I have confidence in our Department of Justice and institutions at the
state and local level to ensure accountability under the law. As this report is
released, we see those processes moving forward.

But preventing another January 6th will require a broader sort of
accountability. Ultimately, the American people chart the course for our
country’s future. The American people decide whom to give the reins of
power. If this Select Committee has accomplished one thing, I hope it has
shed light on how dangerous it would be to empower anyone whose desire
for authority comes before their commitment to American democracy and
the Constitution.

I believe most Americans will turn their backs on those enemies of
democracy.

But some will rally to the side of the election deniers, and when I think
about who some of those people are, it troubles me deep inside. White
supremacists. Violent extremists. Groups that subscribe to racism, anti-
Semitism, and violent conspiracy theories; those who would march through
the halls of the Capitol waving the Confederate battle flag.

These are people who want to take America backward, not toward some
imagined prior greatness, but toward repression. These are people who
want to roll back what we’ve accomplished. I believe that those who aligned
with the scheme to overturn the election heeded Donald Trump’s call to
march on the Capitol because they thought taking up Donald Trump’s cause
was a way to advance their vile ambitions.

That is why I did not remove my lapel pin on January 6th.

Our country has come too far to allow a defeated President to turn him-
self into a successful tyrant by upending our democratic institutions,
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fomenting violence, and, as I saw it, opening the door to those in our coun-
try whose hatred and bigotry threaten equality and justice for all Ameri-
cans.

We can never surrender to democracy’s enemies. We can never allow
America to be defined by forces of division and hatred. We can never go
backward in the progress we have made through the sacrifice and dedica-
tion of true patriots. We can never and will never relent in our pursuit of a
more perfect union, with liberty and justice for all Americans.

I pray that God continues to bless the United States of America.

BENNIE G. THOMPSON
Chairman
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In April 1861, when Abraham Lincoln issued the first call for volunteers for
the Union Army, my great-great grandfather, Samuel Fletcher Cheney,
joined the 21st Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He fought through all four years of
the Civil War, from Chickamauga to Stones River to Atlanta. He marched
with his unit in the Grand Review of Troops up Pennsylvania Avenue in May
1865, past a reviewing stand where President Johnson and General Grant
were seated.

Silas Canfield, the regimental historian of the 21st OVI, described the
men in the unit this way:

Industry had taught them perseverance, and they had learned to turn
aside for no obstacle. Their intelligence gave them a just appreciation of
the value and advantage of free government, and the necessity of
defending and maintaining it, and they enlisted prepared to accept all
the necessary labors, fatigues, exposures, dangers, and even death for
the unity of our Nation, and the perpetuity of our institutions.’

I have found myself thinking often, especially since January 6th, of my
great-great grandfather, and all those in every generation who have sacri-
ficed so much for “the unity of our Nation and the perpetuity of our insti-
tutions.”

At the heart of our Republic is the guarantee of the peaceful transfer of
power. Members of Congress are reminded of this every day as we pass
through the Capitol Rotunda. There, eight magnificent paintings detail the
earliest days of our Republic. Four were painted by John Trumbull, includ-
ing one depicting the moment in 1793 when George Washington resigned
his commission, handing control of the Continental Army back to Congress.
Trumbull called this, “one of the highest moral lessons ever given the
world.” With this noble act, George Washington established the indispens-
able example of the peaceful transfer of power in our nation.

Standing on the West Front of the Capitol in 1981, President Ronald
Reagan described it this way:

To a few of us here today, this is a solemn and most momentous occa-
sion, and yet in the history of our nation it is a commonplace occurrence.
The orderly transfer of authority as called for in the Constitution rou-
tinely takes place, as it has for almost two centuries, and few of us stop
to think how unique we really are. In the eyes of many in the world, this
every-4-year ceremony we accept as normal is nothing less than a
miracle.
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Every President in our history has defended this orderly transfer of
authority, except one. January 6, 2021 was the first time one American
President refused his Constitutional duty to transfer power peacefully to the
next.

In our work over the last 18 months, the Select Committee has recog-
nized our obligation to do everything we can to ensure this never happens
again. At the outset of our investigation, we recognized that tens of millions
of Americans had been persuaded by President Trump that the 2020 Presi-
dential election was stolen by overwhelming fraud. We also knew this was
flatly false, and that dozens of state and federal judges had addressed and
resolved all manner of allegations about the election. Our legal system
functioned as it should, but our President would not accept the outcome.

What most of the public did not know before our investigation is this:
Donald Trump’s own campaign officials told him early on that his claims of
fraud were false. Donald Trump’s senior Justice Department officials—each
appointed by Donald Trump himself —investigated the allegations and told
him repeatedly that his fraud claims were false. Donald Trump’s White
House lawyers also told him his fraud claims were false. From the begin-
ning, Donald Trump’s fraud allegations were concocted nonsense, designed
to prey upon the patriotism of millions of men and women who love our
country.

Most Americans also did not know exactly how Donald Trump, along
with a handful of others, planned to defeat the transfer of Presidential
power on January 6th. This was not a simple plan, but it was a corrupt one.
This report lays that plan out in detail—a plan that ultimately had seven
parts, anticipating that Vice President Pence, serving in his role as Presi-
dent of the Senate, would refuse to count official Biden electoral slates from
multiple states. We understood from the beginning that explaining all the
planning and machinations would be complex and would require many
hours of public presentations and testimony. We also understood that our
presentations needed to be organized into a series of hearings that pre-
sented the key evidence for the American public to watch live or streamed
over a reasonable time period, rather than rely on second-hand accounts as
reported by media organizations with their own editorial biases. We orga-
nized our hearings in segments to meet that goal. Tens of millions of
Americans watched.

Among the most shameful findings from our hearings was this: Presi-
dent Trump sat in the dining room off the Oval Office watching the violent
riot at the Capitol on television. For hours, he would not issue a public
statement instructing his supporters to disperse and leave the Capitol,
despite urgent pleas from his White House staff and dozens of others to do
so. Members of his family, his White House lawyers, virtually all those
around him knew that this simple act was critical. For hours, he would not
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do it. During this time, law enforcement agents were attacked and seriously
injured, the Capitol was invaded, the electoral count was halted and the
lives of those in the Capitol were put at risk. In addition to being unlawful,
as described in this report, this was an utter moral failure—and a clear der-
eliction of duty. Evidence of this can be seen in the testimony of his White
House Counsel and several other White House witnesses. No man who
would behave that way at that moment in time can ever serve in any posi-
tion of authority in our nation again. He is unfit for any office.

% % % * *

In presenting all of the information in our hearings, we decided that the
vast majority of our witnesses needed to be Republicans. They were. We
presented evidence from two former Trump Administration Attorneys Gen-
eral, a former White House Counsel, many former Trump-appointed White
House, Justice Department, and Trump Campaign staff, a respected former
conservative judge, the former Secretary of Labor, and many others.

Like our hearings, this report is designed to deliver our findings in
detail in a format that is accessible for all Americans. We do so in an execu-
tive summary, while also providing immense detail for historians and oth-
ers. We are also releasing transcripts and evidence for the public to review,
consistent with a small number of security and privacy concerns. A section
of this report also explains the legal conclusions we draw from the evi-
dence, and our concerns about efforts to obstruct our investigation.

The Committee recognizes that this investigation is just a beginning; it
is only an initial step in addressing President Trump’s effort to remain in
office illegally. Prosecutors are considering the implications of the conduct
we describe in this report. As are voters. John Adams wrote in 1761, “The
very ground of our liberties is the freedom of elections.” Faith in our elec-
tions and the rule of law are paramount to our Republic. Election-deniers—
those who refuse to accept lawful election results—purposely attack the
rule of law and the foundation of our country.

As you read this report, please consider this: Vice President Pence,
along with many of the appointed officials who surrounded Donald Trump,
worked to defeat many of the worst parts of Trump’s plan to overturn the
election. This was not a certainty. It is comforting to assume that the insti-
tutions of our Republic will always withstand those who try to defeat our
Constitution from within. But our institutions are only strong when those
who hold office are faithful to our Constitution. We do not know what
would have happened if the leadership of the Department of Justice
declared, as Donald Trump requested, that the election was “corrupt,” if
Jeff Clark’s letters to State Legislatures had been sent, if Pat Cipollone, Jeff
Rosen, Richard Donoghue, Steve Engel and others were not serving as
guardrails on Donald Trump’s abuses.
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Part of the tragedy of January 6th is the conduct of those who knew that
what happened was profoundly wrong, but nevertheless tried to downplay
it, minimize it or defend those responsible. That effort continues every day.
Today, I am perhaps most disappointed in many of my fellow conservatives
who know better, those who stood against the threats of communism and
Islamic terrorism but concluded that it was easier to appease Donald
Trump, or keep their heads down. I had hoped for more from them.

The late Charles Krauthammer wrote, “The lesson of our history is that
the task of merely maintaining strong and sturdy the structures of a consti-
tutional order is unending, the continuing and ceaseless work of every gen-
eration.” This task is unending because democracy can be fragile and our
institutions do not defend themselves.

The history of our time will show that the bravery of a handful of
Americans, doing their duty, saved us from an even more grave Constitu-
tional crisis. Elected officials, election workers, and public servants stood
against Donald Trump’s corrupt pressure. Many of our witnesses showed
selfless patriotism and their words and courage will be remembered.

The brave men and women of the Capitol Police, Metropolitan Police
and all the other law enforcement officers who fought to defend us that day
undoubtedly saved lives and our democracy.

Finally, I wish to thank all who honorably contributed to the work of
the Committee and to this Report. We accomplished much over a relatively
short period of time, and many of you sacrificed for the good of your
nation. You have helped make history and, I hope, helped right the ship.

LIZ CHENEY
Vice Chair

ENDNOTE

1. Silas S. Canfield, History of the 21st Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry in the War of the
Rebellion (Vrooman, Anderson & Bateman, printers, 1893), p. 10.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

On October 31, 2022, in a Federal courthouse in Washington, DC, Graydon
Young testified against Stewart Rhodes and other members of the Oath
Keepers militia group. The defendants had been charged with seditious
conspiracy against the United States and other crimes related to the January
6, 2021, attack on Congress.!

In his testimony that day, Young explained to the jury how he and other
Oath Keepers were provoked to travel to Washington by President Donald
Trump’s tweets and by Trump’s false claims that the 2020 Presidential
election was “stolen” from him.? And, in emotional testimony, Young
acknowledged what he and others believed they were doing on January 6th:
attacking Congress in the manner the French had attacked the Bastille at
the outset of the French Revolution.? Reflecting on that day more than a
year and half later, Young testified:

Prosecutor: And so how do you feel about the fact that you were
pushing towards a line of police officers?

Young: Today I feel extremely ashamed and embarrassed. . . .
Prosecutor: How did you feel at the time?

Young: I felt like, again, we were continuing in some kind of his-
torical event to achieve a goal.

k ok ok

Prosecutor: Looking back now almost two years later, what would
that make you as someone who was coming to D.C. to fight against
the government?

Young: I guess I was [acting] like a traitor, somebody against my
own government.”

Young’s testimony was dramatic, but not unique. Many participants in
the attack on the Capitol acknowledged that they had betrayed their own
country:

* Reimler: “And I’m sorry to the people of this country for threatening
the democracy that makes this country so great . . . My participation in
the events that day were part of an attack on the rule of law.” >

e Pert: “I know that the peaceful transition of power is to ensure the
common good for our nation and that it is critical in protecting our
country’s security needs. I am truly sorry for my part and accept full
responsibility for my actions.” ¢

e Markofski: “My actions put me on the other side of the line from my
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Protestors gather at the Capitol.
(Photo by Samuel Corum/Getty Images)

brothers in the Army. The wrong side. Had I lived in the area, I would
have been called up to defend the Capitol and restore order . . . My
actions brought dishonor to my beloved U.S. Army National Guard.” ”

* Witcher: “Every member—every male member of my family has served
in the military, in the Marine Corps, and most have saw combat. And I
cast a shadow and cast embarrassment upon my family name and that
legacy.” ®

* Edwards: “I am ashamed to be for the first time in my 68 years,
standing before a judge, having pleaded guilty to committing a crime,
ashamed to be associated with an attack on the United States Capitol, a
symbol of American democracy and greatness that means a great deal
to me.” ?

Hundreds of other participants in the January 6th attack have pleaded
guilty, been convicted, or await trial for crimes related to their actions that
day. And, like Young, hundreds of others have acknowledged exactly what
provoked them to travel to Washington, and to engage in violence. For
example:

* Ronald Sandlin, who threatened police officers in the Capitol saying,
“[yJou’re going to die,” posted on December 23, 2020: “I’m going to be
there to show support for our president and to do my part to stop the
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steal and stand behind Trump when he decides to cross the rubicon. If
you are a patriot I believe it’s your duty to be there. I see it as my civic
responsibility.” ¢

* Garret Miller, who brought a gun to the Capitol on January 6th,
explained: “I was in Washington, D.C. on January 6, 2021, because I
believed I was following the instructions of former President Trump
and he was my president and the commander-in-chief. His statements
also had me believing the election was stolen from him.” !

* John Douglas Wright explained that he brought busloads of people to
Washington, DC, on January 6th “because [Trump] called me there, and
he laid out what is happening in our government.” 2

* Lewis Cantwell testified: If “the President of the United States . . . [is]
out on TV telling the world that it was stolen, what else would I believe,
as a patriotic American who voted for him and wants to continue to see
the country thrive as I thought it was?” 1?

* Likewise, Stephen Ayres testified that “with everything the President
was putting out” ahead of January 6th that “the election was rigged . . .
the votes were wrong and stuff . . . it just got into my head.” “The
President [was] calling on us to come” to Washington, DC. ** Ayres
“was hanging on every word he [President Trump] was saying” '* Ayres
posted that “Civil War will ensue” if President Trump did not stay in
power after January 6th.'

The Committee has compiled hundreds of similar statements from par-
ticipants in the January 6th attack.’”

House Resolution 503 instructed the Select Committee to “investigate
and report upon the facts, circumstances, and causes relating to the January
6, 2021, domestic terrorist attack upon the United States Capitol Complex”
and to “issue a final report” containing “findings, conclusions, and recom-
mendations for corrective measures.” The Select Committee has conducted
nine public hearings, presenting testimony from more than 70 witnesses.
In structuring our investigation and hearings, we began with President
Trump’s contentions that the election was stolen and took testimony from
nearly all of the President’s principal advisors on this topic. We focused on
the rulings of more than 60 Federal and State courts rejecting President
Trump’s and his supporters’ efforts to reverse the electoral outcome.

Despite the rulings of these courts, we understood that millions of
Americans still lack the information necessary to understand and evaluate
what President Trump has told them about the election. For that reason,
our hearings featured a number of members of President Trump’s inner
circle refuting his fraud claims and testifying that the election was not in
fact stolen. In all, the Committee displayed the testimony of more than four
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dozen Republicans—by far the majority of witnesses in our hearings—
including two of President Trump’s former Attorneys General, his former
White House Counsel, numerous members of his White House staff, and the
highest-ranking members of his 2020 election campaign, including his
campaign manager and his campaign general counsel. Even key individuals
who worked closely with President Trump to try to overturn the 2020 elec-
tion on January 6th ultimately admitted that they lacked actual evidence
sufficient to change the election result, and they admitted that what they
were attempting was unlawful.'®

This Report supplies an immense volume of information and testimony
assembled through the Select Committee’s investigation, including informa-
tion obtained following litigation in Federal district and appellate courts, as
well as in the U.S. Supreme Court. Based upon this assembled evidence, the
Committee has reached a series of specific findings,' including the follow-
ing:

1. Beginning election night and continuing through January 6th and
thereafter, Donald Trump purposely disseminated false allegations of
fraud related to the 2020 Presidential election in order to aid his effort
to overturn the election and for purposes of soliciting contributions.
These false claims provoked his supporters to violence on January 6th.

2. Knowing that he and his supporters had lost dozens of election law-
suits, and despite his own senior advisors refuting his election fraud
claims and urging him to concede his election loss, Donald Trump
refused to accept the lawful result of the 2020 election. Rather than
honor his constitutional obligation to “take Care that the Laws be
faithfully executed,” President Trump instead plotted to overturn the
election outcome.

3. Despite knowing that such an action would be illegal, and that no
State had or would submit an altered electoral slate, Donald Trump
corruptly pressured Vice President Mike Pence to refuse to count
electoral votes during Congress’s joint session on January 6th.

4. Donald Trump sought to corrupt the U.S. Department of Justice by
attempting to enlist Department officials to make purposely false
statements and thereby aid his effort to overturn the Presidential
election. After that effort failed, Donald Trump offered the position of
Acting Attorney General to Jeff Clark knowing that Clark intended to
disseminate false information aimed at overturning the election.

5. Without any evidentiary basis and contrary to State and Federal law,
Donald Trump unlawfully pressured State officials and legislators to
change the results of the election in their States.

6. Donald Trump oversaw an effort to obtain and transmit false electoral
certificates to Congress and the National Archives.
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. Donald Trump pressured Members of Congress to object to valid

slates of electors from several States.

. Donald Trump purposely verified false information filed in Federal

court.

. Based on false allegations that the election was stolen, Donald Trump

summoned tens of thousands of supporters to Washington for Janu-
ary 6th. Although these supporters were angry and some were armed,
Donald Trump instructed them to march to the Capitol on January 6th
to “take back” their country.

Knowing that a violent attack on the Capitol was underway and
knowing that his words would incite further violence, Donald Trump
purposely sent a social media message publicly condemning Vice
President Pence at 2:24 p.m. on January 6th.

Knowing that violence was underway at the Capitol, and despite his
duty to ensure that the laws are faithfully executed, Donald Trump
refused repeated requests over a multiple hour period that he instruct
his violent supporters to disperse and leave the Capitol, and instead
watched the violent attack unfold on television. This failure to act
perpetuated the violence at the Capitol and obstructed Congress’s
proceeding to count electoral votes.

Each of these actions by Donald Trump was taken in support of a
multi-part conspiracy to overturn the lawful results of the 2020
Presidential election.

The intelligence community and law enforcement agencies did suc-
cessfully detect the planning for potential violence on January 6th,
including planning specifically by the Proud Boys and Oath Keeper
militia groups who ultimately led the attack on the Capitol. As January
6th approached, the intelligence specifically identified the potential
for violence at the U.S. Capitol. This intelligence was shared within the
executive branch, including with the Secret Service and the Presi-
dent’s National Security Council.

Intelligence gathered in advance of January 6th did not support a
conclusion that Antifa or other left-wing groups would likely engage
in a violent counter-demonstration, or attack Trump supporters on
January 6th. Indeed, intelligence from January 5th indicated that
some left-wing groups were instructing their members to “stay at
home” and not attend on January 6th.?° Ultimately, none of these
groups was involved to any material extent with the attack on the
Capitol on January 6th.
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Neither the intelligence community nor law enforcement obtained
intelligence in advance of January 6th on the full extent of the ongo-
ing planning by President Trump, John Eastman, Rudolph Giuliani
and their associates to overturn the certified election results. Such
agencies apparently did not (and potentially could not) anticipate the
provocation President Trump would offer the crowd in his Ellipse
speech, that President Trump would “spontaneously” instruct the
crowd to march to the Capitol, that President Trump would exacerbate
the violent riot by sending his 2:24 p.m. tweet condemning Vice
President Pence, or the full scale of the violence and lawlessness that
would ensue. Nor did law enforcement anticipate that President
Trump would refuse to direct his supporters to leave the Capitol once
violence began. No intelligence community advance analysis pre-
dicted exactly how President Trump would behave; no such analysis
recognized the full scale and extent of the threat to the Capitol on
January 6th.

Hundreds of Capitol and DC Metropolitan police officers performed
their duties bravely on January 6th, and America owes those individu-
als immense gratitude for their courage in the defense of Congress
and our Constitution. Without their bravery, January 6th would have
been far worse. Although certain members of the Capitol Police lead-
ership regarded their approach to January 6th as “all hands on deck,”
the Capitol Police leadership did not have sufficient assets in place to
address the violent and lawless crowd.*! Capitol Police leadership did
not anticipate the scale of the violence that would ensue after Presi-
dent Trump instructed tens of thousands of his supporters in the
Ellipse crowd to march to the Capitol, and then tweeted at 2:24 p.m.
Although Chief Steven Sund raised the idea of National Guard support,
the Capitol Police Board did not request Guard assistance prior to
January 6th. The Metropolitan Police took an even more proactive
approach to January 6th, and deployed roughly 800 officers, including
responding to the emergency calls for help at the Capitol. Rioters still
managed to break their line in certain locations, when the crowd
surged forward in the immediate aftermath of Donald Trump’s 2:24
p-m. tweet. The Department of Justice readied a group of Federal
agents at Quantico and in the District of Columbia, anticipating that
January 6th could become violent, and then deployed those agents
once it became clear that police at the Capitol were overwhelmed.
Agents from the Department of Homeland Security were also
deployed to assist.

President Trump had authority and responsibility to direct deploy-
ment of the National Guard in the District of Columbia, but never gave
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any order to deploy the National Guard on January 6th or on any other
day. Nor did he instruct any Federal law enforcement agency to assist.
Because the authority to deploy the National Guard had been del-
egated to the Department of Defense, the Secretary of Defense could,
and ultimately did deploy the Guard. Although evidence identifies a
likely miscommunication between members of the civilian leadership
in the Department of Defense impacting the timing of deployment,
the Committee has found no evidence that the Department of Defense
intentionally delayed deployment of the National Guard. The Select
Committee recognizes that some at the Department had genuine
concerns, counseling caution, that President Trump might give an
illegal order to use the military in support of his efforts to overturn
the election.

k ok ok

This Report begins with a factual overview framing each of these con-
clusions and summarizing what our investigation found. That overview is
in turn supported by eight chapters identifying the very specific evidence of
each of the principal elements of President Trump’s multi-part plan to
overturn the election, along with evidence regarding intelligence gathered
before January 6th and security shortfalls that day.

Although the Committee’s hearings were viewed live by tens of millions
of Americans and widely publicized in nearly every major news source,??
the Committee also recognizes that other news outlets and commentators
have actively discouraged viewers from watching, and that millions of other
Americans have not yet seen the actual evidence addressed by this Report.
Accordingly, the Committee is also releasing video summaries of relevant
evidence on each major topic investigated.

This Report also examines the legal implications of Donald Trump and
his co-conspirators’ conduct and includes criminal referrals to the Depart-
ment of Justice regarding President Trump and certain other individuals.
The criminal referrals build upon three relevant rulings issued by a Federal
district court and explain in detail how the facts found support further
evaluation by the Department of Justice of specific criminal charges. To
assist the public in understanding the nature and importance of this mate-
rial, this Report also contains sections identifying how the Committee has
evaluated the credibility of its witnesses and suggests that the Department
of Justice further examine possible efforts to obstruct our investigation. We
also note that more than 30 witnesses invoked their Fifth Amendment
privilege against self-incrimination, others invoked Executive Privilege or
categorically refused to appear (including Steve Bannon, who has since
been convicted of contempt of Congress).
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Finally, this report identifies a series of legislative recommendations,
including the Presidential Election Reform Act, which has already passed
the House of Representatives.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: OVERVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE DEVELOPED

In the Committee’s hearings, we presented evidence of what ultimately
became a multi-part plan to overturn the 2020 Presidential election. That
evidence has led to an overriding and straight forward conclusion: the cen-
tral cause of January 6th was one man, former President Donald Trump,
whom many others followed. None of the events of January 6th would have
happened without him.

THE BIG LIE

In the weeks before election day 2020, Donald Trump’s campaign experts,
including his campaign manager Bill Stepien, advised him that the election
results would not be fully known on election night.?* This was because cer-
tain States would not begin to count absentee and other mail-in votes until
election day or after election-day polls had closed.?* Because Republican
voters tend to vote in greater numbers on election day and Democratic vot-
ers tend to vote in greater numbers in advance of election day, it was widely
anticipated that Donald Trump could initially appear to have a lead, but that
the continued counting of mail-in, absentee and other votes beginning
election night would erode and could overcome that perceived lead.?*> Thus,
as President Trump’s campaign manager cautioned, understanding the
results of the 2020 election would be a lengthy “process,” and an initial
appearance of a Trump lead could be a “red mirage.” ¢ This was not unique
to the 2020 election; similar scenarios had played out in prior elections as
well.?”

Prior to the 2020 election, Donald Trump’s campaign manager Bill
Stepien, along with House Republican Leader Kevin McCarthy, urged Presi-
dent Trump to embrace mail-in voting as potentially beneficial to the
Trump Campaign.?® Presidential advisor and son-in-law Jared Kushner
recounted others giving Donald Trump the same advice: “[M]ail in ballots
could be a good thing for us if we looked at it correctly.” 2° Multiple States,
including Florida, had successfully utilized mail-in voting in prior elec-
tions, and in 2020.?° Trump White House Counselor Hope Hicks testified: “I
think he [President Trump] understood that a lot of people vote via absen-
tee ballot in places like Florida and have for a long time and that it’s worked
fine.” 3! Donald Trump won in numerous States that allowed no-excuse
absentee voting in 2020, including Alaska, Florida, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas,
Montana, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, South Dakota,
and Wyoming.32
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On election night 2020, the election returns were reported in almost
exactly the way that Stepien and other Trump Campaign experts predicted,
with the counting of mail-in and absentee ballots gradually diminishing
President Trump’s perceived lead. As the evening progressed, President
Trump called in his campaign team to discuss the results. Stepien and other
campaign experts advised him that the results of the election would not be
known for some time, and that he could not truthfully declare victory.>® “It
was far too early to be making any calls like that. Ballots—ballots were still
being counted. Ballots were still going to be counted for days.” **

Campaign Senior Advisor Jason Miller told the Select Committee that he
argued against declaring victory at that time as well, because “it was too
early to say one way [or] the other” who had won.?> Stepien advised Trump
to say that “votes were still being counted. It’s too early to tell, too early to
call the race but, you know, we are proud of the race we run—we ran and
we, you know, think we’re—think we’re in a good position” and would say
more in the coming days.?®

President Trump refused, and instead said this in his public remarks
that evening: “This is a fraud on the American public. This is an embar-
rassment to our country. We were getting ready to win this election.
Frankly, we did win this election. We did win this election . ... We want all
voting to stop.” *” And on the morning of November 5th, he tweeted “STOP
THE COUNT!” ?® Halting the counting of votes at that point would have vio-
lated both State and Federal laws.?®

According to testimony received by the Select Committee, the only
advisor present who supported President Trump’s inclination to declare
victory was Rudolph Giuliani, who appeared to be inebriated.*° President
Trump’s Attorney General, William Barr, who had earlier left the election
night gathering, perceived the President’s statement this way:

[Rlight out of the box on election night, the President claimed that
there was major fraud underway. I mean, this happened, as far as I
could tell, before there was actually any potential of looking at evi-
dence. He claimed there was major fraud. And it seemed to be based
on the dynamic that, at the end of the evening, a lot of Democratic
votes came in which changed the vote counts in certain States, and
that seemed to be the basis for this broad claim that there was
major fraud. And I didn’t think much of that, because people had
been talking for weeks and everyone understood for weeks that that
was going to be what happened on election night . ... *

President Trump’s decision to declare victory falsely on election night
and, unlawfully, to call for the vote counting to stop, was not a spontaneous
decision. It was premeditated. The Committee has assembled a range of
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President Trump declares victory in a speech at an election night party.
(Photo by Chip Somodevilla/Getty Images)

evidence of President Trump’s preplanning for a false declaration of vic-
tory. This includes multiple written communications on October 31 and
November 3, 2020, to the White House by Judicial Watch President Tom
Fitton.*? This evidence demonstrates that Fitton was in direct contact with
President Trump and understood that President Trump would falsely
declare victory on election night and call for vote counting to stop. The evi-
dence also includes an audio recording of President Trump’s advisor Steve
Bannon, who said this on October 31, 2020, to a group of his associates
from China:

And what Trump’s gonna do is just declare victory, right? He’s
gonna declare victory. But that doesn’t mean he’s a winner. He’s
just gonna say he’s a winner . . . The Democrats—more of our
people vote early that count. Theirs vote in mail. And so they’re
gonna have a natural disadvantage, and Trump’s going to take
advantage of it—that’s our strategy. He’s gonna declare himself a
winner. So when you wake up Wednesday morning, it’s going to be
a firestorm. . .. Also, if Trump, if Trump is losing, by 10 or 11
o’clock at night, it’s going to be even crazier. No, because he’s
gonna sit right there and say “They stole it. I’m directing the Attor-
ney General to shut down all ballot places in all 50 states.” It’s
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going to be, no, he’s not going out easy. If Trump—if Biden’s win-
ning, Trump is going to do some crazy shit.*?

Also in advance of the election, Roger Stone, another outside advisor to
President Trump, made this statement:

I really do suspect it will still be up in the air. When that happens,
the key thing to do is to claim victory. Possession is nine-tenths of
the law. No, we won. Fuck you, Sorry. Over. We won. You’re wrong.
Fuck you.**

On election day, Vice President Pence’s staff, including his Chief of Staff
and Counsel, became concerned that President Trump might falsely claim
victory that evening. The Vice President’s Counsel, Greg Jacob, testified
about their concern that the Vice President might be asked improperly to
echo such a false statement.** Jacob drafted a memorandum with this spe-
cific recommendation: “[I]t is essential that the Vice President not be per-
ceived by the public as having decided questions concerning disputed
electoral votes prior to the full development of all relevant facts.” #¢

Millions of Americans believed that President Trump was telling the
truth on election night—that President Trump actually had proof the elec-
tion was stolen and that the ongoing counting of votes was an act of fraud.

As votes were being counted in the days after the election, President
Trump’s senior campaign advisors informed him that his chances of suc-
cess were almost zero.

Former Trump Campaign Manager Bill Stepien testified that he had
come to this conclusion by November 7th, and told President Trump:

Committee Staff: What was your view on the state of the election at
that point?

Stepien: You know, very, very, very bleak. You know, I—we told
him—the group that went over there outlined, you know, my belief
and chances for success at this point. And then we pegged that at,
you know, 5, maybe 10 percent based on recounts that were—that,
you know, either were automatically initiated or could be—could be
initiated based on, you know, realistic legal challenges, not all the
legal challenges that eventually were pursued. But, you know, it
was—you know, my belief is that it was a very, very—5 to 10 per-
cent is not a very good optimistic outlook.*”
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Trump Campaign Senior Advisor Jason Miller testified to the Committee
about this exchange:

Miller: I was in the Oval Office. And at some point in the conversa-
tion Matt Oczkowski, who was the lead data person, was brought
on, and I remember he delivered to the President in pretty blunt
terms that he was going to lose.

Committee Staff: And that was based, Mr. Miller, on Matt and the
data team’s assessment of this sort of county-by-county, State-by-
State results as reported?

Miller: Correct.*®

In one of the Select Committee’s hearings, former Fox News political
editor Chris Stirewalt was asked what the chance President Trump had of
winning the election after November 7th, when the votes were tallied and
every news organization had called the race for now-President Biden. His
response: “None.” #°

As the Committee’s hearings demonstrated, President Trump made a
series of statements to White House staff and others during this time
period indicating his understanding that he had lost.”° President Trump
also took consequential actions reflecting his understanding that he would
be leaving office on January 20th. For example, President Trump personally
signed a Memorandum and Order instructing his Department of Defense to
withdraw all military forces from Somalia by December 31, 2020, and from
Afghanistan by January 15, 2021.>! General Keith Kellogg (ret.), who had
been appointed by President Trump as Chief of Staff for the National Secu-
rity Council and was Vice President Pence’s National Security Advisor on
January 6th, told the Select Committee that “[a]n immediate departure that
that memo said would have been catastrophic. It’s the same thing what
President Biden went through. It would have been a debacle.” *2

In the weeks that followed the election, President Trump’s campaign
experts and his senior Justice Department officials were informing him and
others in the White House that there was no genuine evidence of fraud suf-
ficient to change the results of the election. For example, former Attorney
General Barr testified:

And I repeatedly told the President in no uncertain terms that I did
not see evidence of fraud, you know, that would have affected the
outcome of the election. And, frankly, a year and a half later, I
haven’t seen anything to change my mind on that.>*

Former Trump Campaign lawyer Alex Cannon, who was asked to over-
see incoming information about voter fraud and set up a voter fraud tip
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line, told the Select Committee about a pertinent call with White House
Chief of Staff Mark Meadows in November 2020:

Cannon: So I remember a call with Mr. Meadows where Mr. Mead-
ows was asking me what I was finding and if I was finding anything.
And I remember sharing with him that we weren’t finding anything
that would be sufficient to change the results in any of the key
States.

Committee Staff: When was that conversation?
Cannon: Probably in November. Mid- to late November . . ..

Committee Staff: And what was Mr. Meadows’s reaction to that
information?

Cannon: I believe the words he used were: “So there is no there
there?” >+

President Trump’s Campaign Manager Bill Stepien recalled that Presi-
dent Trump was being told “wild allegations” and that it was the Cam-
paign’s job to “track [the allegations] down”:

Committee Staff: You said that you were very confident that you
were telling the President the truth in your dealings with [him]. And
had your team been able to verify any of these allegations of fraud,
would you have reported those to the President?

Stepien: Sure.
Committee Staff: Did you ever have to report that—

Stepien: One of my frustrations would be that, you know, people
would throw out, you know, these reports, these allegations, these
things that they heard or saw in a State, and they’d tell President
Trump. And, you know, it would be the campaign’s job to track
down the information, the facts. And, you know, President Trump,
you know—if someone’s saying, hey, you know, all these votes
aren’t counted or were miscounted, you know, if you’re down in a
State like Arizona, you liked hearing that. It would be our job to
track it down and come up dry because the allegation didn’t prove
to be true. And we’d have to, you know, relay the news that, yeah,
that tip that someone told you about those votes or that fraud or,
you know, nothing came of it.

That would be our job as, you know, the truth telling squad and, you
know, not—not a fun job to be, you know, much—it’s an easier job to
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be telling the President about, you know, wild allegations. It’s a harder
job to be telling him on the back end that, yeah, that wasn’t true.

Committee Staff: How did he react to those types of conversations
where you [told] him that an allegation or another wasn’t true?

Stepien: He was—he had—usually he had pretty clear eyes. Like, he
understood, you know—you know, we told him where we thought
the race was, and I think he was pretty realistic with our viewpoint,
in agreement with our viewpoint of kind of the forecast and the
uphill climb we thought he had.”®

Trump Campaign Senior Advisor Jason Miller told the Committee that
he informed President Trump “several” times that “specific to election day
fraud and irregularities, there were not enough to overturn the election.” >¢

Vice President Pence has also said publicly that he told President Trump
there was no basis to allege that the election was stolen. When a reporter
recently asked “Did you ever point blank say to the President [that] we lost
this election?,” Pence responded that “I did ... Many times.” > Pence has
also explained:

There was never evidence of widespread fraud. I don’t believe fraud
changed the outcome of the election. But the President and the
Campaign had every right to have those examined in court. But I
told the President that, once those legal challenges played out, he
should simply accept the outcome of the election and move on.>®

The General Counsel of President Trump’s campaign, Matthew Morgan,
informed members of the White House staff, and likely many others, of the
Campaign’s conclusion that none of the allegations of fraud and irregulari-
ties could be sufficient to change the outcome of the election:

What was generally discussed on that topic was whether the fraud,
maladministration, abuse, or irregularities, if aggregated and read
most favorably to the campaign, would that be outcome determina-
tive. And I think everyone’s assessment in the room, at least
amongst the staff, Marc Short, myself, and Greg Jacob, was that it
was not sufficient to be outcome determinative.>®

In a meeting on November 23rd, Barr told President Trump that the
Justice Department was doing its duty by investigating every fraud allega-
tion “if it’s specific, credible, and could’ve affected the outcome,” but that
“they’re just not meritorious. They’re not panning out.” ¢°

Barr then told the Associated Press on December 1st that the Depart-
ment had “not seen fraud on a scale that could have effected a different
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outcome in the election.” ! Next, he reiterated this point in private meet-
ings with the President both that afternoon and on December 14th, as well
as in his final press conference as Attorney General later that month.® The
Department of Homeland Security had reached a similar determination two
weeks earlier: “There is no evidence that any voting system deleted or lost
votes, changed votes, or was in any way compromised.” ¢3

In addition, multiple other high ranking Justice Department personnel
appointed by President Trump also informed him repeatedly that the alle-
gations were false. As January 6th drew closer, Acting Attorney General
Rosen and Acting Deputy Attorney General Donoghue had calls with Presi-
dent Trump on almost a daily basis explaining in detail what the Depart-
ment’s investigations showed.®* Acting Deputy Attorney General Richard
Donoghue told the Select Committee that he and Acting Attorney General
Rosen tried “to put it in very clear terms to the President. And I said some-
thing to the effect of ‘Sir, we’ve done dozens of investigations, hundreds of
interviews. The major allegations are not supported by the evidence devel-
oped. We’ve looked in Georgia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Nevada. We’re
doing our job.”” ¢> On December 31st, Donoghue recalls telling the President
that “people keep telling you these things and they turn out not to be
true.” °® And then on January 3rd, Donoghue reiterated this point with the
President:

[A]s in previous conservations, we would say to him, you know,
“We checked that out, and there’s nothing to it.” ¢7

Acting Attorney General Rosen testified before the Select Committee
that “the common element” of all of his communications with President
Trump was President Trump urging the Department to find widespread
fraud that did not actually exist. None of the Department’s investigations
identified any genuine fraud sufficient to impact the election outcome:

During my tenure as the Acting Attorney General, which began on
December 24 of [2020], the Department of Justice maintained the

position, publicly announced by former Attorney General William

Barr, that the Department had been presented with no evidence of
widespread voter fraud in a scale sufficient to change the outcome
of the 2020 election.®®

As President Trump was hearing from his campaign and his Justice
Department that the allegations of widespread fraud were not supported by
the evidence, his White House legal staff also reached the same conclu-
sions, and agreed specifically with what Barr told President Trump. Both
White House Counsel Pat Cipollone and White House Senior Advisor Eric
Herschmann reinforced to President Trump that the Justice Department
was doing its duty to investigate allegations of supposed voter fraud.®®
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Cipollone told the Select Committee that he “had seen no evidence of
massive fraud in the election” and that he “forcefully” made this point “over
and over again.” For example, during a late-night group meeting with Presi-
dent Trump on December 18th, at which he and Herschmann urged Trump
not to heed the advice of several election conspiracists at the meeting:

Cipollone: They didn’t think that we were, you know—they didn’t
think we believed this, you know, that there had been massive fraud
in the election, and the reason they didn’t think we believed it is
because we didn’t.

Committee Staff: And you articulated that forcefully to them during
the meeting?

Cipollone: I did, yeah. I had seen no evidence of massive fraud in the
election. . .. At some point, you have to deliver with the evidence.
And I—again, I just to go back to what [Barr] said, he had not seen
and I was not aware of any evidence of fraud to the extent that it
would change the results of the election. That was made clear to
them, okay, over and over again.”®

Similarly, White House Attorney Eric Herschmann was also very clear
about his views:

[T]hey never proved the allegations that they were making, and
they were trying to develop.”

In short, President Trump was informed over and over again, by his
senior appointees, campaign experts and those who had served him for
years, that his election fraud allegations were nonsense.

How did President Trump continue to make false allegations despite all
of this unequivocal information? President Trump sought out those who
were not scrupulous with the facts, and were willing to be dishonest. He
found a new legal team to assert claims that his existing advisors and the
Justice Department had specifically informed him were false. President
Trump’s new legal team, headed by Rudolph Giuliani, and their allies ulti-
mately lost dozens of election lawsuits in Federal and State courts.

The testimony of Trump Campaign Manager Bill Stepien helps to put
this series of events in perspective. Stepien described his interaction with
Giuliani as an intentional “self-demotion,” with Stepien stepping aside
once it became clear that President Trump intended to spread falsehoods.

Stepien knew the President’s new team was relying on unsupportable
accusations, and he refused to be associated with their approach:
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There were two groups of family. We called them kind of my team
and Rudy’s team. I didn’t mind being characterized as being part of
“team normal,” as reporters, you know, kind of started to do
around that point in time. 72

Having worked for Republican campaigns for over two decades, Stepien
said, “I think along the way I’ve built up a pretty good -- I hope a good
reputation for being honest and professional, and I didn’t think what was
happening was necessarily honest or professional at that point in time.” >

As Giuliani visited Campaign headquarters to discuss election litigation,
the Trump Campaign’s professional staff began to view him as unhinged.”*
In addition, multiple law firms previously engaged to work for the Trump
Campaign decided that they could not participate in the strategy being
instituted by Giuliani. They quit. Campaign General Counsel Matthew Mor-
gan explained that he had conversations with “probably all of our counsel
who [we]re signed up to assist on election day as they disengaged with the
campaign.” 7> The “general consensus was that the law firms were not
comfortable making the arguments that Rudy Giuliani was making pub-
licly.” 7® When asked how many outside firms expressed this concern, Mor-
gan recalled having “a similar conversation with most all of them.” 77

Stepien grew so wary of the new team that he locked Giuliani out of
his office:

Committee Staff: Yeah. I'm getting the sense from listening to you
here for a few hours that you sort of chose to pull back, that you
were uncomfortable with what Mr. Giuliani and others were saying
and doing and, therefore, you were purposefully stepping back from
a day-to-day role as the leader of the campaign. Is that—I don’t
want to put words in your mouth. Is that accurate?

Stepien: That’s accurate. That’s accurate. You know, I had my assis-
tant -- it was a big glass kind of wall office in our headquarters, and
I had my assistant lock my door. I told her, don’t let anyone in. You
know, I’ll be around when I need to be around. You know, tell me
what I need to know. Tell me what’s going on here, but, you know,
you’re going to see less of me.

And, you know, sure enough, you know, Mayor Giuliani tried to, you
know, get in my office and ordered her to unlock the door, and she
didn’t do that, you know. She’s, you know, smart about that. But
your words are ones I agree with.”®

Over the weeks that followed, dozens of judges across the country spe-
cifically rejected the allegations of fraud and irregularities being advanced
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by the Trump team and their allies. For example, courts described the argu-
ments as ‘“an amalgamation of theories, conjecture, and speculation,”
“allegations ... sorely wanting of relevant or reliable evidence,” “strained
legal arguments without merit,” assertions that “did not prove by any
standard of proof that any illegal votes were cast and counted,” and even a
“fundamental and obvious misreading of the Constitution.” 7

Reflecting back on this period, Trump Campaign Communications
Director Tim Murtaugh texted colleagues in January 2021 about a news
report that the New York State Bar was considering expelling Rudolph Giu-
liani over the Ellipse rally: “Why wouldn’t they expel him based solely on
the outrageous lies he told for 2 1/2 months?” 8°

This is exactly what ultimately came to pass. When suspending his
license, a New York court said that Giuliani “communicated demonstrably
false and misleading statements to courts, lawmakers and the public at
large in his capacity as lawyer for former President Donald J. Trump and the
Trump campaign in connection with Trump’s failed effort at reelection in
2020.” 8 The court added that “[t]he seriousness of [Giuliani’s] uncontro-
verted misconduct cannot be overstated.” 82

Other Trump lawyers were sanctioned for making outlandish claims of
election fraud without the evidence to back them up, including Sidney Pow-
ell, Lin Wood and seven other pro-Trump lawyers in a case that a Federal
judge described as “a historic and profound abuse of the judicial process”:

It is one thing to take on the charge of vindicating rights associated
with an allegedly fraudulent election. It is another to take on the
charge of deceiving a federal court and the American people into
believing that rights were infringed, without regard to whether any
laws or rights were in fact violated. This is what happened here.®?

A group of prominent Republicans have more recently issued a report—
titled Lost, Not Stolen—examining “every count of every case brought in
these six battleground states” by President Trump and his allies. The report
concludes “that Donald Trump and his supporters had their day in court
and failed to produce substantive evidence to make their case.” 8* President
Trump and his legal allies “failed because of a lack of evidence and not
because of erroneous rulings or unfair judges . . . . In many cases, after
making extravagant claims of wrongdoing, Trump’s legal representatives
showed up in court or state proceedings empty-handed, and then returned
to their rallies and media campaigns to repeat the same unsupported
claims.” 8

There is no reasonable basis for the allegation that these dozens of rul-
ings by State and Federal courts were somehow politically motivated.®® The
outcome of these suits was uniform regardless of who appointed the judges.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

One of the authors of Lost, Not Stolen, longtime Republican election lawyer
Benjamin Ginsberg, testified before the Select Committee that “in no
instance did a court find that the charges of fraud were real,” without
variation based on the judges involved.®” Indeed, eleven of the judges who
ruled against Donald Trump and his supporters were appointed by Donald
Trump himself.

One of those Trump nominees, Judge Stephanos Bibas of the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Third Circuit, rejected an appeal by the Trump Campaign
claiming that Pennsylvania officials “did not undertake any meaningful
effort” to fight illegal absentee ballots and uneven treatment of voters
across counties.®® Judge Bibas wrote in his decision that “calling an election
unfair does not make it so. Charges require specific allegations and then
proof. We have neither here.” 3 Another Trump nominee, Judge Brett Lud-
wig of the Eastern District of Wisconsin, ruled against President Trump’s
lawsuit alleging that the result was skewed by illegal procedures that gov-
erned drop boxes, ballot address information, and individuals who claimed
“indefinitely confined” status to vote from home.?® Judge Ludwig wrote in
his decision, that “[t]his Court has allowed plaintiff the chance to make his
case and he has lost on the merits” because the procedures used “do not
remotely rise to the level” of breaking Wisconsin’s election rules.’!

Nor is it true that these rulings focused solely on standing, or proce-
dural issues. As Ginsberg confirmed in his testimony to the Select Commit-
tee, President Trump’s team “did have their day in court.” °> Indeed, he and
his co-authors determined in their report that 30 of these post-election
cases were dismissed by a judge after an evidentiary hearing had been held,
and many of these judges explicitly indicated in their decisions that the evi-
dence presented by the plaintiffs was wholly insufficient on the merits.”?

Ultimately, even Rudolph Giuliani and his legal team acknowledged that
they had no definitive evidence of election fraud sufficient to change the
election outcome. For example, although Giuliani repeatedly had claimed in
public that Dominion voting machines stole the election, he admitted during
his Select Committee deposition that “I do not think the machines stole the
election.” °* An attorney representing his lead investigator, Bernard Kerik,
declared in a letter to the Select Committee that “it was impossible for
Kerik and his team to determine conclusively whether there was widespread
fraud or whether that widespread fraud would have altered the outcome of
the election.” > Kerik also emailed President Trump’s chief of staff on
December 28, 2020, writing: “We can do all the investigations we want
later, but if the president plans on winning, it’s the legislators that have to
be moved and this will do just that.” °® Other Trump lawyers and support-
ers, Jenna Ellis, John Eastman, Phil Waldron, and Michael Flynn, all
invoked their Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination when
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Rudolph Giuliani, Bernard Kerik, and other hold a press conference at Four Seasons Total
Landscaping on November 7, 2020 falsely claiming Donald Trump had won the state of
Pennsylvania.

(Photo by Chris McGrath/Getty Images)

asked by the Select Committee what supposed proof they uncovered that
the election was stolen.?” Not a single witness--nor any combination of
witnesses--provided the Select Committee with evidence demonstrating
that fraud occurred on a scale even remotely close to changing the outcome
in any State.”®

By mid-December 2020, Donald Trump had come to what most of his
staff believed was the end of the line. The Supreme Court rejected a lawsuit
he supported filed by the State of Texas in the Supreme Court, and Donald
Trump had this exchange, according to Special Assistant to the President
Cassidy Hutchinson:

The President was fired up about the Supreme Court decision. And so
I was standing next to [Chief of Staff Mark] Meadows, but I had
stepped back . . . The President [was] just raging about the decision
and how it’s wrong, and why didn’t we make more calls, and just this
typical anger outburst at this decision . . . And the President said I
think—so he had said something to the effect of, “I don’t want
people to know we lost, Mark. This is embarrassing. Figure it out. We
need to figure it out. I don’t want people to know that we lost.” *°
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On December 14, 2020, the Electoral College met to cast and certify each
State’s electoral votes. By this time, many of President Trump’s senior staff,
and certain members of his family, were urging him to concede that he had lost.

Labor Secretary Gene Scalia told the Committee that he called President
Trump around this time and gave him such feedback quite directly:

[Slo, I had put a call in to the President—I might have called on the
13th; we spoke, I believe, on the 14th—in which I conveyed to him that
I thought that it was time for him to acknowledge that President
Biden had prevailed in the election . . .. But I communicated to the
President that when that legal process is exhausted and when the
electors have voted, that that’s the point at which that outcome needs
to be expected . . .. And I told him that I did believe, yes, that once
those legal processes were run, if fraud had not been established that
had affected the outcome of the election, that, unfortunately, I
believed that what had to be done was concede the outcome.'*°

Deputy White House Press Secretary Judd Deere also told President
Trump that he should concede. He recalled other staffers advising President
Trump at some point to concede and that he “encouraged him to do it at
least once after the electoral college met in mid-December.” ! White
House Counsel Pat Cipollone also believed that President Trump should
concede: “[I]f your question is did I believe he should concede the election
at a point in time, yes, I did.” 1°2

Attorney General Barr told the Select Committee this: “And in my view,
that [the December 14 electoral college vote] was the end of the matter. I
didn’t see—you know, I thought that this would lead inexorably to a new
administration. I was not aware at that time of any theory, you know, why
this could be reversed. And so I felt that the die was cast ....” 03

Barr also told the Committee that he suggested several weeks earlier
that the President’s efforts in this regard needed to come to an end soon, in
conversation with several White House officials after his meeting with
Trump on November 23rd:

[A]s I walked out of the Oval Office, Jared was there with Dan
Scavino, who ran the President’s social media and who I thought
was a reasonable guy and believe is a reasonable guy. And I said,
how long is he going to carry on with this ‘stolen election’ stuff?
Where is this going to go?

And by that time, Meadows had caught up with me and—leaving the
office, and caught up to me and said that—he said, look, I think that
he’s becoming more realistic and knows that there’s a limit to how
far he can take this. And then Jared said, you know, yeah, we’re
working on this, we’re working on it.'**
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Despite all that Donald Trump was being told, he continued to purposely
and maliciously make false claims. To understand the very stark differences
between what he was being told and what he said publicly and in fundraising
solicitations, the Committee has assembled the following examples.

Then-Deputy Attorney General Jeffrey
Rosen (12/15/20):

“And so he said, ‘Well, what about
this? I saw it on the videotape, some-
body delivering a suitcase of ballots.’
And we said, ‘It wasn’t a suitcase. It
was a bin. That’s what they use when
they’re counting ballots. It’s
benign.”” 105

President Trump one week later
(12/22/20):

“There is even security cam-
era footage from Georgia that
shows officials telling poll
watchers to leave the room
before pulling suitcases of
ballots out from under the
tables and continuing to count
for hours.” 196

Acting Deputy Attorney General Richard

President Trump later that

Donoghue (12/27 & 12/31/20):

“I told the President myself that several
times, in several conversations, that
these allegations about ballots being
smuggled in in a suitcase and run
through the machine several times, it
was not true, that we looked at it, we
looked at the video, we interviewed the
witnesses, that it was not true....I
believe it was in the phone call on
December 27th. It was also in a meeting
in the Oval Office on December 31st.” 107

week (1/2/21):

“[S]he stuffed the machine.
She stuffed the ballot. Each
ballot went three times, they
were showing: Here’s ballot
number one. Here it is a sec-
ond time, third time, next
ballot.” 108

GA Sec. State Brad Raffensperger
(1/2/21):

“You’re talking about the State Farm
video. And I think it’s extremely unfor-
tunate that Rudy Giuliani or his people,
they sliced and diced that video and
took it out of context.” ... “[W]e did an
audit of that and we proved conclu-
sively that they were not scanned three
times. . . . Yes, Mr. President, we’ll send
you the link from WSB.”

[Trump]: “I don’t care about a link. I
don’t need it.” °°

President Trump one day later
(1/3/21):

“T spoke to Secretary of State
Brad Raffensperger yesterday
about Fulton County and voter
fraud in Georgia. He was
unwilling, or unable, to answer
questions such as the ‘ballots
under table’ scam, ballot
destruction, out of state ‘vot-
ers’, dead voters, and more. He
has no clue!” 1°
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Attorney General Barr (12/1/20):

“Then he raised the ‘big vote dump,’ as
he called it, in Detroit. And, you know,
he said, people saw boxes coming into
the counting station at all hours of the
morning and so forth.... I said, ‘Mr.
President, there are 630 precincts in
Detroit, and unlike elsewhere in the
State, they centralize the counting pro-
cess, so they’re not counted in each
precinct, they’re moved to counting
stations, and so the normal process
would involve boxes coming in at all
different hours.” And I said, ‘Did any-
one point out to you—did all the people
complaining about it point out to you,
you actually did better in Detroit than
you did last time? I mean, there’s no
indication of fraud in Detroit.”” **

President Trump one day later
(12/2/20):

“I’ll tell you what’s wrong,
voter fraud. Here’s an example.
This is Michigan. At 6:31in the
morning, a vote dump of
149,772 votes came in unex-
pectedly. We were winning by a
lot. That batch was received in
horror. . . . In Detroit everybody
saw the tremendous conflict . . .
there were more votes than
there were voters.” 12

Acting Deputy Attorney General Richard

President Trump ten days later

Donoghue (12/27/20):

“The President then continued, there
are ‘more votes than voters...”. But I
was aware of that allegation, and I said,
you know, that was just a matter of
them ‘comparing the 2020 votes cast to
2016 registration numbers.’ That is ‘not
a valid complaint.”” 113

(1/6/21):

“More votes than they had
voters. And many other States
alSO.” 114

Acting Deputy Attorney General Richard

President Trump three days

Donoghue (1/3/21):

“[W]e would say to him, you know,
‘We checked that out, and there’s
nothing to it. . . . And we would cite to
certain allegations. And so—Ilike such
as Pennsylvania, right. ‘No, there were
not 250,000 more votes reported than
were actually cast. That’s not true.” So
we would say things like that.” *>

later (1/6/21):

“In Pennsylvania, you had
205,000 more votes than you
had voters. And the number is
actually much greater than
that now. That was as of a
week ago. And this is a math-
ematical impossibility unless
you want to say it’s a total
fraud.” ¢
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GA Sec. State Brad Raffensperger
(1/2/21):

[Trump]: “[I]t’s 4,502 who voted, but
they weren’t on the voter registration
roll, which they had to be. You had
18,325 vacant address voters. The ad-
dress was vacant, and they’re not
allowed to be counted. That’s
18,325.”...

[Raffensperger]: “Well, Mr. President,
the challenge that you have is the data
you have is wrong.” '

President Trump two days later
(1/4/21):

“4,502 illegal ballots were
cast by individuals who do not
appear on the state’s voter
rolls. Well, that’s sort of
strange. 18,325 illegal ballots
were cast by individuals who
registered to vote using an
address listed as vacant
according to the postal ser-
Vice.” 118

GA Sec. of State Brad Raffensperger
(1/2/21):

[Trump]: “So dead people voted, and I
think the number is close to 5,000
people. And they went to obituaries.
They went to all sorts of methods to
come up with an accurate number, and
a minimum is close to about 5,000
voters.” . ..

[Raffensperger]: “The actual number
were two. Two. Two people that were
dead that voted. So that’s wrong.” *°

President Trump four days later
(1/6/21):

“[TThe number of fraudulent
ballots that we've identified
across the state is staggering.
Over 10,300 ballots in Georgia
were cast by individuals
whose names and dates of
birth match Georgia residents
who died in 2020 and prior to
the election.” 12°

GA Sec. State General Counsel Ryan
Germany (1/2/21):

[Trump]: “You had out-of-state voters.
They voted in Georgia, but they were
from out of state, of 4,925.” ... [Ger-
many]: “Every one we’ve been through
are people that lived in Georgia, moved
to a different state, but then moved
back to Georgia legitimately.” ... “They
moved back in years ago. This was not
like something just before the election.
So there’s something about that data
that, it’s just not accurate.” !

President Trump four days later
(1/6/21):

“And at least 15,000 ballots
were cast by individuals who
moved out of the state prior to
November 3rd election. They
say they moved right

baCk.” 122




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

White House Press Secretary Kayleigh
McEnany (n.d.):

“[T]he one specific I remember refer-
encing was I don’t agree with the
Dominion track.” ... “I specifically
referenced waving him off of the Domin-
ion theory earlier in my testimony.” ...
[Q] “Are you saying you think he still
continued to tweet that after you
waved him off of it?”

[A] “Yeah...”1?3

President Trump:

Between mid-November and
January 5, 2021, President
Trump tweeted or retweeted
conspiracy theories about
Dominion nearly three dozen
times.'?*

Trump Campaign Senior Advisor Jason
Miller:

‘“...the international allegations for
Dominion were not valid.”

[Q] “Okay. Did anybody communicate
that to the President?”

[A]: “I know that that was—I know
that was communicated. I know I
communicated it” ?°

President Trump:

“You have Dominion, which is
very, very suspect to start off
with. Nobody knows the own-
ership. People say the votes
are counted in foreign coun-
tries and much worse...” 12¢

Attorney General Barr (11/23/20):

“I specifically raised the Dominion vot-
ing machines, which I found to be one
of the most disturbing allegations—
‘disturbing’ in the sense that I saw
absolutely zero basis for the allegations
... 1told him that it was crazy stuff and
they were wasting their time on that
and it was doing great, great disservice
to the country.” 127

President Trump three days
later (11/26/20):

“[T]hose machines are fixed,
they’re rigged. You can press
Trump and the vote goes to
Biden. . . . All you have to do is
play with a chip, and they
played with a chip, especially
in Wayne County and
Detroit.” 128

Attorney General Barr (12/1/20):

“I explained, I said, look, if you have a
machine and it counts 500 votes for
Biden and 500 votes for Trump, and
then you go back later and you have
a—you will have the 1,000 pieces of
paper put through that machine, and
you can see if there’s any discrep-
ancy...there has been no discrep-
ancy.” 129

President Trump one day later
(12/2/20):

“In one Michigan County, as
an example, that used Domin-
ion systems, they found that
nearly 6,000 votes had been
wrongly switched from Trump
to Biden, and this is just the
tip of the iceberg. This is what
we caught. How many didn’t
we catch?” 130
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Attorney General Barr (12/14/20): “‘1
will, Mr. President. But there are a
couple of things,’ I responded. ‘My
understanding is that our experts have
looked at the Antrim situation and are
sure it was a human error that did not
occur anywhere else. And, in any
event, Antrim is doing a hand recount
of the paper ballots, so we should
know in a couple of days whether
there is any real problem with the
machines.’ ” 13!

President Trump one day later
(12/15/20):

“This is BIG NEWS. Dominion
Voting Machines are a disaster
all over the Country. Changed
the results of a landslide
election. Can’t let this

happen. .. .” 132

Then-Deputy Attorney General Jeffrey
Rosen (12/15/20):

“[O]ther people were telling him there
was fraud, you know, corruption in
the election. The voting machines
were no good. And we were telling him
that is inconsistent, by ‘we,” I mean
Richard Donoghue and myself, that
that was not what we were seeing.” ...
“There was this open issue as to the
Michigan report. And—TI think it was
Mr. Cuccinelli, not certain, but had
indicated that there was a hand
recount. And I think he said, ‘That's
the gold standard.” ” 133

President Trump one day later
(12/16/20):

“‘Study: Dominion Machines
shifted 2-3% of Trump Votes
to Biden. Far more votes than
needed to sway election.’
Florida, Ohio, Texas and many
other states were won by even
greater margins than pro-
jected. Did just as well with
Swing States, but bad things
happened. @OANN” 134

National Security Adviser Robert O’Brien

President Trump one day later

(12/18/20):

“I got a call from, I think, Molly
Michael in outer oval, the President’s
assistant, and she said, ‘I’m connect-
ing you to the Oval’ . .. somebody
asked me, was there—did I have any
evidence of election fraud in the vot-
ing machines or foreign interference
in our voting machines. And I said, no,
we’ve looked into that and there’s no
evidence of it.” 13°

(12/19/20):

... There could also have
been a hit on our ridiculous
voting machines during the
election, which is now obvious
that I won big, making it an
even more corrupted embar-
rassment for the USA. @DNI-
_ Ratcliffe @SecPompeo”'3¢
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Acting Deputy AG Richard Donoghue
(12/31/20):

“We definitely talked about Antrim
County again. That was sort of done at
that point, because the hand recount
had been done and all of that. But we
cited back to that to say, you know,
this is an example of what people are
telling you and what’s being filed in
some of these court filings that are
just not supported by the evi-
dence.” 137

President Trump two days later
(1/2/21):

“Well, Brad. Not that there’s
not an issue, because we have
a big issue with Dominion in
other states and perhaps in
yours. . .. in other states, we
think we found tremendous
corruption with Dominion
machines, but we’ll have to
see.” ... “Iwon’t give
Dominion a pass because we
found too many bad

things.” 138
GA Sec. State Brad Raffensperger President Trump four days later
(1/2/21): (1/6/21):

“T don’t believe that you’re really
questioning the Dominion machines.
Because we did a hand re-tally, a 100
percent re-tally of all the ballots, and
compared them to what the machines
said and came up with virtually the
same result. Then we did the recount,
and we got virtually the same

result.” 139

“In addition, there is the
highly troubling matter of
Dominion Voting Systems. In
one Michigan county alone,
6,000 votes were switched
from Trump to Biden and the
same systems are used in the
majority of states in our coun-
try.” ... “There is clear evi-
dence that tens of thousands
of votes were switched from
President Trump to former
Vice President Biden in several
counties in Georgia.” 14°

Evidence gathered by the Committee indicates that President Trump

raised roughly one quarter of a billion dollars in fundraising efforts
between the election and January 6th.'*! Those solicitations persistently
claimed and referred to election fraud that did not exist. For example, the
Trump Campaign, along with the Republican National Committee, sent
millions of emails to their supporters, with messaging claiming that the
election was “rigged,” that their donations could stop Democrats from
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Taped footage of William Barr speaking to the January 6th Select Committee is shown at

one of its hearings.
(Photo by Mandel Ngan-Pool/Getty Images)

“trying to steal the election,” and that Vice President Biden would be an
“illegitimate president” if he took office.

Ultimately, Attorney General Barr suggested that the Department of
Justice’s investigations disproving President Trump’s fraud claims may
have prevented an even more serious series of events:

[Flrankly, I think the fact that I put myself in the position that I
could say that we had looked at this and didn’t think there was
fraud was really important to moving things forward. And I sort of
shudder to think what the situation would have been if the position
of the Department was, “We’re not even looking at this until after
Biden’s in office.” I’'m not sure we would’ve had a transition at
all.'42

RATHER THAN CONCEDE, DONALD TRUMP CHOOSES TO OBSTRUCT THE JANUARY 6TH
PROCEEDING

President Trump disregarded the rulings of the courts and rejected the
findings and conclusions and advice from his Justice Department, his cam-
paign experts, and his White House and Cabinet advisors. He chose instead
to try to overturn the election on January 6th and took a series of very spe-
cific steps to attempt to achieve that result.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A central element of Donald Trump’s plan to overturn the election
relied upon Vice President Mike Pence. As Vice President, Pence served as
the President of the Senate, the presiding officer for the joint session of
Congress on January 6th. Beginning in December, and with greater fre-
quency as January 6th approached, Trump repeatedly and unlawfully pres-
sured Pence in private and public to prevent Congress from counting lawful
electoral votes from several States.

To understand the plan President Trump devised with attorney and law
professor John Eastman, it is necessary to understand the constitutional
structure for selecting our President.

At the Constitutional Convention 233 years ago, the framers considered
but rejected multiple proposals that Congress itself vote to select the Presi-
dent of the United States.'*> Indeed the Framers voiced very specific con-
cerns with Congress selecting the President. They viewed it as important
that the electors, chosen for the specific purpose of selecting the President,
should make the determination rather than Congress:

It was desireable, that the sense of the people should operate in the
choice of the person to whom so important a trust was to be con-
fided. This end will be answered by committing the right of making
it, not to any pre-established body, but to men, chosen by the

people for the special purpose, and at the particular conjuncture.***

The Framers understood that a thoughtful structure for the appoint-
ment of the President was necessary to avoid certain evils: “Nothing was
more to be desired, than that every practicable obstacle should be opposed
to cabal, intrigue and corruption.” > They were careful to ensure that
“those who from situation might be suspected of too great devotion to the
president in office” “were not among those that chose the president.” ¢
For that reason, “[n]o senator, representative, or other person holding a
place of trust or profit under the United States, can be of the number of the
electors.” 147

Article II of our Constitution, as modified by the Twelfth Amendment,
governs election of the President. Article II created the electoral college,
providing that the States would select electors in the manner provided by
State legislatures, and those electors would in turn vote for the President.
Today, every State selects Presidential electors by popular vote, and each
State’s laws provide for procedures to resolve election disputes, including
through lawsuits if necessary. After any election issues are resolved in State
or Federal court, each State’s government transmits a certificate of the
ascertainment of the appointed electors to Congress and the National
Archives.
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The electoral college meets in mid-December to cast their votes, and
all of these electoral votes are then ultimately counted by Congress on
January 6th. The Vice President, as President of the Senate, presides over
the joint session of Congress to count votes. The Twelfth Amendment
provides this straight forward instruction: “The president of the Senate
shall, in the presence of the Senate and House of Representatives, open all
the certificates and the votes shall then be counted; The person having the
greatest number of votes for President shall be the President...” The Vice
President has only a ministerial role, opening the envelopes and ensuring
that the votes are counted. Likewise, the Electoral Count Act of 1887 pro-
vides no substantive role for the Vice President in counting votes, rein-
forcing that he or she can only act in a ministerial fashion—the Vice
President may not choose, for example, to decline to count particular
votes. In most cases (e.g., when one candidate has a majority of votes sub-
mitted by the States) Congress has only a ministerial role, as well. It simply
counts electoral college votes provided by each State’s governor. Congress
is not a court and cannot overrule State and Federal court rulings in elec-
tion challenges.

As January 6th approached, John Eastman and others devised a plan
whereby Vice President Pence would, as the presiding officer, declare that
certain electoral votes from certain States could not be counted at the
joint session.'*® John Eastman knew before proposing this plan that it
was not legal. Indeed, in a pre-election document discussing Congress’s
counting of electoral votes, Dr. Eastman specifically disagreed with a col-
league’s proposed argument that the Vice President had the power to
choose which envelopes to “open” and which votes to “count.” Dr. East-
man wrote:

I don’t agree with this. The 12th Amendment only says that the
President of the Senate opens the ballots in the joint session then,
in the passive voice, that the votes shall then be counted. 3 USC § 12
[of the Electoral Count Act] says merely that he is the presiding
officer, and then it spells out specific procedures, presumptions,
and default rules for which slates will be counted. Nowhere does it
suggest that the president of the Senate gets to make the determi-
nation on his own. § 15 [of the Electoral Count Act] doesn’t
either.'*?

Despite recognizing prior to the 2020 election that the Vice President
had no power to refuse to count certain electoral votes, Eastman neverthe-
less drafted memoranda two months later proposing that Pence could do
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exactly that on January 6th—refuse to count certified electoral votes from
Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, New Mexico, Pennsylvania and Wis-
consin.'*°

Eastman’s theory was related to other efforts overseen by President
Trump (described in detail below, see infra) to create and transmit fake
electoral slates to Congress and the National Archives, and to pressure
States to change the election outcome and issue new electoral slates.
Eastman supported these ideas despite writing two months earlier that:

Article II [of the Constitution] says the electors are appointed “in
such manner as the Legislature thereof may direct,” but I don’t
think that entitles the Legislature to change the rules after the elec-
tion and appoint a different slate of electors in a manner different
than what was in place on election day. And 3 U.S.C. 8§15 [of the
Electoral Count Act] gives dispositive weight to the slate of electors
that was certified by the Governor in accord with 3 U.S.C. §5.1°!

Even after Eastman proposed the theories in his December and January
memoranda, he acknowledged in conversations with Vice President Pence’s
counsel Greg Jacob that Pence could not lawfully do what his own memo-
randa proposed.’®? Eastman admitted that the U.S. Supreme Court would
unanimously reject his legal theory. “He [Eastman] had acknowledged that
he would lose 9-0 at the Supreme Court.” '**> Moreover, Eastman acknowl-
edged to Jacob that he didn’t think Vice President Al Gore had that power in
2001, nor did he think Vice President Kamala Harris should have that power
in 2025.1%4

In testimony before the Select Committee, Jacob described in detail why
the Trump plan for Pence was illegal:

[T]he Vice President’s first instinct, when he heard this theory, was
that there was no way that our Framers, who abhorred concentrated
power, who had broken away from the tyranny of George III, would
ever have put one person—particularly not a person who had a
direct interest in the outcome because they were on the ticket for
the election—in a role to have decisive impact on the outcome of
the election. And our review of text, history, and, frankly, just com-
mon sense, all confirmed the Vice President’s first instinct on that
point. There is no justifiable basis to conclude that the Vice Presi-
dent has that kind of authority.!>”

This is how the Vice President later described his views in a public
speech:

I had no right to overturn the election. The Presidency belongs to
the American people, and the American people alone. And frankly,
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there is no idea more un-American than the notion that any one
person could choose the American President. Under the Constitu-
tion, I had no right to change the outcome of our election.'>®

But as January 6th approached, President Trump nevertheless embraced
the new Eastman theories, and attempted to implement them. In a series of
meetings and calls, President Trump attempted to pressure Pence to inter-
vene on January 6th to prevent Congress from counting multiple States’
electoral votes for Joe Biden. At several points in the days before January
6th, President Trump was told directly that Vice President Pence could not
legally do what Trump was asking. For example, at a January 4th meeting in
the Oval Office, Eastman acknowledged that any variation of his proposal—
whether rejecting electoral votes outright or delaying certification to send
them back to the States—would violate several provisions of the Electoral
Count Act. According to Greg Jacob:

In the conversation in the Oval Office on the 4th, I had raised the
fact that ... [Eastman’s] preferred course had issues with the Elec-
toral Count Act, which he had acknowledged was the case, that
there would be an inconsistency with the Electoral Count Act[ ]*>7

Jacob recorded Eastman’s admission in an internal memo he drafted for
Vice President Pence on the evening of January 4th: “Professor Eastman
acknowledges that his proposal violates several provisions of statutory
law.” *® And, during a phone call with President Trump and Eastman on the
evening of January 5, 2021, Eastman again acknowledged that his proposal
also would violate several provisions of the Electoral Count Act.

[W]e did have an in-depth discussion about [the Electoral Count
Act] in the subsequent phone calls as I walked him through provi-
sion after provision on the recess and on the fact that . . . Congress-
men and Senators are supposed to get to object and debate. And he
acknowledged, one after another, that those provisions would—in
order for us to send it back to the States, we couldn’t do those
things as well. We can’t do a 10-day, send it back to the States, and
honor an Electoral Count Act provision that says you can’t recess for
more than one day and, once you get to the 5th, you have to stay
continuously in session.!*®

As Pence’s Chief of Staff, Marc Short, testified that the Vice President
also repeatedly informed President Trump that the Vice President’s role on
January 6th was only ministerial.
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Committee Staff: But just to pick up on that, Mr. Short, was it your
impression that the Vice President had directly conveyed his posi-
tion on these issues to the President, not just to the world through a
Dear Colleague Letter, but directly to President Trump?

Marc Short: Many times.

Committee Staff: And had been consistent in conveying his position
to the President?

Short: Very consistent. 1¢°

As the situation grew increasingly acrimonious, Vice President Pence’s
private counsel Richard Cullen contacted former Fourth Circuit Judge
Michael Luttig, a renowned conservative judge for whom Eastman had pre-
viously clerked, and asked Luttig to make a public statement. On January
5th, Luttig wrote the following on Twitter: “The only responsibility and
power of the Vice President under the Constitution is to faithfully count the
electoral college votes as they have been cast.” ' As Judge Luttig testified
in the Committee’s hearings, “there was no basis in the Constitution or
laws of the United States at all for the theory espoused by Eastman—at all.
None.” 2 Judge Luttig completely rejected Eastman’s “blueprint to over-
turn the 2020 election” as “constitutional mischief” and ‘the most reck-
less, insidious, and calamitous failure[ ] in both legal and political
judgment in American history.” 163

Contemporaneous written correspondence also confirms both that: (1)
Eastman himself recognized Pence could not lawfully refuse to count elec-
toral votes, and (2) President Trump also knew this. While sheltering in a
loading dock with the Vice President during the violent January 6th attack,
Greg Jacob asked Eastman in an email, “Did you advise the President that in
your professional judgment the Vice President DOES NOT have the power to
decide things unilaterally?” Eastman’s response stated that the President
had “been so advised,” but then indicated that President Trump continued
to pressure the Vice President to act illegally: “But you know him—once he
gets something in his head, it is hard to get him to change course.” 6%

To be absolutely clear, no White House lawyer believed Pence could
lawfully refuse to count electoral votes. White House Counsel Pat Cipollone
told the Select Committee this:

I thought that the Vice President did not have the authority to do
what was being suggested under a proper reading of the law. I con-
veyed that, ok? I think I actually told somebody, you know, in the
Vice President’s— “Just blame me.” You know this is—I’m not a
politician, you know . . . but, you know, I just said, “I’'m a lawyer.
This is my legal opinion.” 1¢°
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Greg Jacob and Judge Michael Luttig testify at January 6th Select Committee hearing.
(Photo by House Creative Services)

Cipollone also testified that he was “sure [he] conveyed” his views.'¢¢

Indeed, other testimony from Cipollone indicates that Trump knew of
Cipollone’s view and suggests that Trump purposely excluded Cipollone
from the meeting with Pence and Pence’s General Counsel on January
4th.'*” Indeed, at one point, Cipollone confronted Eastman in the hallway
outside the Oval Office and expressed his disapproval of and anger with
Eastman’s position. According to Jason Miller, “Pat Cipollone thought the
idea was nutty and had at one point confronted Eastman basically with the
same sentiment” outside the Oval Office.'*® Pat Cipollone did not deny hav-
ing an angry confrontation with Eastman outside of the Oval Office—
though he said he didn’t have a specific recollection, he had no reason to
contradict what Jason Miller said and, moreover, said that Eastman was
aware of his views.'¢?

Likewise, Eric Herschmann, another White House lawyer, expressed the
same understanding that Eastman’s plan “obviously made no sense” and
“had no practical ability to work.” ”° Herschmann also recounted telling
Eastman directly that his plan was ‘“completely crazy”:

And I said to [Eastman], hold on a second, I want to understand
what you’re saying. You’re saying you believe the Vice President,
acting as President of the Senate, can be the sole decisionmaker as
to, under your theory, who becomes the next President of the
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United States? And he said, yes. And I said, are you out of your F’ing
mind, right. And that was pretty blunt. I said, you’re completely
crazy.'”

Deputy White House Counsel Pat Philbin also had the same understand-
ing.'”? Indeed, as Herschmann testified, even Rudolph Giuliani doubted that
Vice President Mike Pence had any legal ability to do what Eastman had
proposed.’”?

Despite all this opposition from all White House lawyers, Trump never-
theless continued to exert immense pressure on Pence to refuse to count
electoral votes.

The pressure began before the January 4th Oval Office meeting with
Pence, Eastman, Jacob, Short and Trump, but became even more intense
thereafter. On the evening of January 5, 2021, the New York Times pub-
lished an article reporting that “Vice President Mike Pence told President
Trump on Tuesday that he did not believe he had the power to block con-
gressional certification of Joseph R. Biden, Jr.’s victory in the Presidential
election despite President Trump’s baseless insistence that he did.” }”* This
reporting was correct—both as to the Vice President’s power and as to Vice
President Pence having informed President Trump that he did not have the
authority to change the outcome of the election. But in response to that
story, late in the evening before the January 6th joint session, President
Trump dictated to Jason Miller a statement falsely asserting, “The Vice
President and I are in total agreement that the Vice President has the power
to act.” 17> This statement was released at President Trump’s direction and
was false.'”¢

Thereafter, Trump continued to apply public pressure in a series of
tweets. At 1:00 a.m. on January 6th, “[i]f Vice President @Mike_ Pence
comes through for us, we will win the Presidency. Many States want to
decertify the mistake they made in certifying incorrect & even fraudulent
numbers in a process NOT approved by their State Legislatures (which it
must be). Mike can send it back!” 77 At 8:17 a.m. on January 6th, he tweeted
again: “States want to correct their votes, which they now know were based
on irregularities and fraud, plus corrupt process never received legislative
approval. All Mike Pence has to do is send them back to the States, AND WE
WIN. Do it Mike, this is a time for extreme courage!” 78

President Trump tried to reach the Vice President early in the morning
of January 6th, but the Vice President did not take the call. The President
finally reached the Vice President later that morning, shouting from the
Oval Office to his assistants to “get the Vice President on the phone.” 7°
After again telling the Vice President that he had “the legal authority to
send [electoral votes] back to the respective states,” President Trump grew
very heated.’®° Witnesses in the Oval Office during this call told the Select
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President Trump speaks with Vice President Pence over the phone in the Oval Office on the
morning of January 6th.
(Photo provided to the Select Committee by the National Archives and Records Administration)

Committee that the President called Vice President Pence a “wimp,” '¥! told
him it would be “a political career killer” to certify the lawful electoral
votes electing President Biden,'®? and accused him of “not [being] tough
enough to make the call.” 2 As Ivanka Trump would recount to her chief of
staff moments later, her father called the Vice President “the p-word” for
refusing to overturn the election.’®*

In response, Vice President Pence again refused to take any action other
than counting the lawfully certified electoral votes of the States. But Presi-
dent Trump was angry and undeterred. After the conclusion of this call, he
edited his speech for the Ellipse to insert language to which his lawyers
objected—targeting Vice President Pence directly.'®”

Earlier that morning, Eric Herschmann had tried to remove the refer-
ence to Vice President Pence from the speech. As he told speechwriter Ste-
phen Miller, he “didn’t concur with the legal analysis” that John Eastman
had advanced and believed it “wouldn’t advance the ball” to discuss it pub-
licly.'®® But after the call with Vice President Pence, speechwriters were
instructed to reinsert the line. Although the final written draft of his speech
referred to Pence just once—a line President Trump didn’t end up
reading’®’—the President went off-script five different times to pressure
the Vice President:
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“I hope Mike is going to do the right thing. I hope so. Because if Mike
Pence does the right thing, we win the election,” Trump first told the
crowd.'s®

“Mike Pence is going to have to come through for us,” Trump later
said, “and if he doesn’t, that will be a, a sad day for our country because
you’re sworn to uphold our Constitution.” 18

Addressing Pence directly, Trump told the assembled crowd: “Mike
Pence, I hope you’re going to stand up for the good of our Constitution and
for the good of our country.” Trump said at another point, “And if you’re
not, I’m going to be very disappointed in you. I will tell you right now. I’m
not hearing good stories.” 19°

“So I hope Mike has the courage to do what he has to do. And I hope he
doesn’t listen to the RINOs and the stupid people that he’s listening to,”
Trump said.'*

These statements to the assembled crowd at the Ellipse had Trump’s
intended effect—they produced substantial anger against Pence. When
Pence released a statement confirming that he would not act to prevent
Congress from counting electoral votes, the crowd’s reaction was harshly
negative.

“I’'m telling you what, I’m hearing that Pence—hearing the Pence
just caved. No. Is that true? I didn’t hear it. I'm hear — I’m hearing
reports that Pence caved. No way. I'm telling you, if Pence caved,
we’re going to drag motherfuckers through the streets. You fucking
politicians are going to get fucking drug through the streets.” 12

Pence voted against Trump. [Interviewer: “Ok. And that’s when all
this started?”] Yup. That’s when we marched on the Capitol. 13

“We just heard that Mike Pence is not going to reject any fraudulent
electoral votes. [Other speaker: “Boo. You’re a traitor!”] That's
right. You’ve heard it here first. Mike Pence has betrayed the United
States of America. [Other speaker: “Fuck you, Mike Pence!”] Mike
Pence has betrayed this President and he has betrayed the people of
the United States and we will never, ever forget.” [Cheers]'**

“This woman cames [sic] up to the side of us and she says Pence
folded. So it was kind of, like, Ok, well — in my mind I was think-
ing, well that’s it. You know. Well, my son-in-law looks at me and
he says I want to go in.” '%°

“[Q] “What percentage of the crowd is going to the Capitol?” [A]
[Oath Keeper Jessica Watkins]: “One hundred percent. It has, it has
spread like wildfire that Pence has betrayed us, and everybody’s
marching on the Capitol. All million of us. it’s insane.” 19¢
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“Bring him out. Bring out Pence. Bring him out. Bring out Pence.
Bring him out. Bring out Pence. Bring him out. Bring out Pence.” 1*7

“Hang Mike Pence. Hang Mike Pence. Hang Mike Pence. Hang Mike
Pence. Hang Mike Pence.” 198

Once Trump returned to the White House, he was informed almost
immediately that violence and lawlessness had broken out at the Capitol
among his supporters.'®® At 2:24 p.m., President Trump applied yet further
pressure to Pence (see infra), posting a tweet accusing Vice President Mike
Pence of cowardice for not using his role as President of the Senate to
change the outcome of the election: “Mike Pence didn’t have the courage to
do what should have been done to protect our Country and our Constitu-
tion, giving States a chance to certify a corrected set of facts, not the
fraudulent or inaccurate ones which they were asked to previously certify.
USA demands the truth!” 2°° Almost immediately thereafter, the crowd
around the Capitol surged, and more individuals joined the effort to con-
front police and break further into the building.

The sentiment expressed in President Trump’s 2:24 p.m. tweet, already
present in the crowd, only grew more powerful as the President’s words
spread. Timothy Hale-Cusanelli—a white supremacist who expressed Nazi
sympathies—heard about the tweet while in the Crypt around 2:25 p.m.,
and he, according to the Department of Justice, “knew what that meant.”
Vice President Pence had decided not to keep President Trump in power.2°!
Other rioters described what happened next as follows:

Once we found out Pence turned on us and that they had stolen the
election, like officially, the crowd went crazy. I mean, it became a
mob. We crossed the gate.?°*

Then we heard the news on [PJence. .. And lost it... So we
stormed.?*3

They’re making an announcement right now saying if Pence betrays us
you better get your mind right because we’re storming that building.?**

Minutes after the tweet—at 2:35 p.m.—rioters continued their surge
and broke a security line of the DC Metropolitan Police Department, result-
ing in the first fighting withdrawal in the history of that force.?**

President Trump issued this tweet after he had falsely claimed to the
angry crowd that Vice President Mike Pence could “do the right thing” and
ensure a second Trump term, after that angry crowd had turned into a vio-
lent mob assaulting the Capitol while chanting, “Hang Mike Pence!” 2°¢ and
after the U.S. Secret Service had evacuated the Vice President from the Sen-
ate floor.?°” One minute after the President’s tweet, at 2:25 p.m., the Secret
Service determined they could no longer protect the Vice President in his
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ceremonial office near the Senate Chamber, and evacuated the Vice Presi-
dent and his family to a secure location, missing the violent mob by a mere
40 feet.?8

Further evidence presented at our hearing shows the violent reaction
following President Trump’s 2:24 p.m. tweet and the efforts to protect Vice
President Pence in the time that followed.>*°

The day after the attack on the Capitol, Eastman called Eric Her-
schmann to talk about continuing litigation on behalf of the Trump Presi-
dential Campaign in Georgia. Herschmann described his reaction to
Eastman this way:

And I said to him, are you out of your F'ing mind? Right? I said,
because I only want to hear two words coming out of your mouth
from now on: Orderly transition. I said, I don't want to hear any
other F'ing words coming out of your mouth, no matter what, other
than orderly transition. Repeat those words to me.” 2°

Herschmann concluded the call by telling Eastman: “Now I’m going to
give you the best free legal advice you’re ever getting in your life. Get a
great F’ing criminal defense lawyer, you’re going to need it,” and hanging
up the phone.?!!

In the course of investigating this series of facts, the Select Committee
subpoenaed Eastman’s emails from his employer, Chapman University.?!?
Eastman sued to prevent Chapman from producing the emails, arguing that
the emails were attorney-client privileged. Federal District Court Judge
David Carter reviewed Eastman’s emails in camera to determine, among
other things, whether the emails had to be produced because they likely
furthered a crime committed by one of Eastman’s clients or by Eastman
himself. In addition to reviewing the emails themselves, Judge Carter
reviewed substantial additional evidence presented by the Select Committee
and by Eastman.

After reciting a series of factual findings regarding President Trump’s
multi-part plan to overturn the election, Judge Carter concluded that Presi-
dent Trump likely violated two criminal statutes: 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c) (cor-
ruptly obstructing, impeding or influencing Congress’s official proceeding
to count electoral votes); and 18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiring to defraud the
United States). The Court also concluded that John Eastman likely violated
at least one of these criminal laws. As to §1512(c), Judge Carter explained:

Taken together, this evidence demonstrates that President Trump
likely knew the electoral count plan had no factual justification.

The plan not only lacked factual basis but also legal justification. . . .
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The illegality of the plan was obvious. Our nation was founded on
the peaceful transition of power, epitomized by George Washington
laying down his sword to make way for democratic elections. Ignor-
ing this history, President Trump vigorously campaigned for the
Vice President to single-handedly determine the results of the 2020
election. . . . Every American—and certainly the President of the
United States—knows that in a democracy, leaders are elected, not
installed. With a plan this “BOLD,” President Trump knowingly
tried to subvert this fundamental principle. Based on the evidence,
the Court finds it more likely than not that President Trump cor-
ruptly attempted to obstruct the Joint Session of Congress on Janu-
ary 6, 2021.%21

As to 18 U.S.C. § 371, Judge Carter identified evidence demonstrating
that both President Trump and John Eastman knew their electoral count
plan was illegal, and knew it could not “survive judicial scrutiny” in any of
its iterations:

Dr. Eastman himself repeatedly recognized that his plan had no
legal support. . .. Dr. Eastman likely acted deceitfully and dishon-
estly each time he pushed an outcome-driven plan that he knew
was unsupported by the law.>'

Finally, Judge Carter concluded:

Dr. Eastman and President Trump launched a campaign to overturn
a democratic election, an action unprecedented in American history.
Their campaign was not confined to the ivory tower—it was a coup
in search of a legal theory. The plan spurred violent attacks on the
seat of our nation’s government, led to the deaths of several law
enforcement officers, and deepened public distrust in our political
process.?®

Judge Luttig reached similar conclusions during his live hearing testi-
mony: “I have written, as you said, Chairman Thompson, that, today,
almost two years after that fateful day in January 2021, that, still, Donald
Trump and his allies and supporters are a clear and present danger to
American democracy.” 26

During the hearing, Judge Luttig took issue with certain of Greg Jacob’s
characterizations of the 12th Amendment’s text, explaining that the appli-
cable text was not ambiguous in any way. The Committee agrees with Judge
Luttig: the application of the Twelfth Amendment’s text is plain in this
context; it does not authorize Congress to second-guess State and Federal
courts and refuse to count State electoral votes based on concerns about
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fraud. See infra. Although Jacob did not discuss his position in great detail
during the hearing, his private testimony gives more insight on his actual
views:

In my view, a lot has been said about the fact that the role of the
Vice President in the electoral count on January 6th is purely minis-
terial, and that is a correct conclusion. But if you look at the consti-
tutional text, the role of Congress is purely ministerial as well. You
open the certificates and you count them. Those are the only things
provided for in the Constitution.?'”

EFFORTS TO PRESSURE STATES TO CHANGE THE ELECTION OUTCOME, AND TO
CREATE AND TRANSMIT FAKE ELECTION CERTIFICATES

Anticipating that the Eastman strategy for January 6th would be imple-
mented, President Trump worked with a handful of others to prepare a
series of false Trump electoral slates for seven States Biden actually won.
President Trump personally conducted a teleconference with Eastman and
Republican National Committee Chair Ronna McDaniel “a few days before
December 14” and solicited the RNC’s assistance with the scheme.*®
McDaniel agreed to provide that assistance.”?

A series of contemporaneous documents demonstrate what President
Trump and his allies, including attorney Kenneth Chesebro, were attempt-
ing to accomplish: they anticipated that the President of the Senate (which,
under the Constitution, is the Vice President) could rely upon these false
slates of electors on January 6th to justify refusing to count genuine elec-
toral votes.?2°

The false slates were created by fake Republican electors on December
14th, at the same time the actual, certified electors in those States were
meeting to cast their States’ Electoral College votes for President Biden. By
that point in time, election-related litigation was over in all or nearly all of
the subject States, and Trump Campaign election lawyers realized that the
fake slates could not be lawful or justifiable on any grounds. Justin Clark,
the Trump Campaign Deputy Campaign Manager and Senior Counsel told
the Select Committee that he “had real problems with the process.” 221
Clark warned his colleagues, “unless we have litigation pending like in
these States, like, I don’t think this is appropriate or, you know, this isn’t
the right thing to do. I don’t remember how I phrased it, but I got into a
little bit of a back and forth and I think it was with Ken Chesebro, where I
said, ‘Alright, you know, you just get after it, like, I'm out.” ” 22

Matthew Morgan, the Trump Campaign General Counsel, told the Select
Committee that without an official State certificate of ascertainment,??>
“the [fake] electors were, for lack of a better way of saying it, no good or
not—not valid.” 2>4
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Graphic depicting the difference between the real and the fake elector certificates.

The Office of White House Counsel also appears to have expressed con-
cerns with this fake elector plan. In his interview by the Select Committee,
White House Counsel Pat Cipollone acknowledged his view that by mid-
December, the process was “done” and that his deputy, Pat Philbin, may
have advised against the fake elector strategy.??” In an informal Committee
interview, Philbin described the fake elector scheme as one of the “bad
theories” that were like “Whac-A-Mole” in the White House during this
period.??¢ Cipollone agreed with this characterization.>*’

In her testimony, Cassidy Hutchinson testified that she heard at least
one member of the White House Counsel’s Office say that the plan was not
legal:

Committee Staff: [T]o be clear, did you hear the White House Coun-
sel’s Office say that this plan to have alternate electors meet and
cast votes for Donald Trump in States that he had lost was not
legally sound?

Hutchinson: Yes, sir.22®

Multiple Republicans who were persuaded to sign the fake certificates
also testified that they felt misled or betrayed, and would not have done so
had they known that the fake votes would be used on January 6th without
an intervening court ruling. One elector told the Select Committee that he
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thought his vote would be strictly contingent: “[I]t was a very consistent
message that we were told throughout all of that, is this is the only reason
why we’re doing this, is to preserve the integrity of being able to have a
challenge.” 2%°

The “Chairperson” of the Wisconsin fake electors, who was also at the
time Chairman of the Wisconsin Republican Party, insisted in testimony to
the Select Committee that he “was told that these would only count if a
court ruled in our favor” and that he wouldn’t have supported anyone using
the Trump electors’ votes without a court ruling.>*°

Despite the fact that all major election lawsuits thus far had failed,
President Trump and his co-conspirators in this effort, including John
Eastman and Kenneth Chesebro, pressed forward with the fake elector
scheme. Ultimately, these false electoral slates, five of which purported to
represent the “duly elected” electoral college votes of their States, were
transmitted to Executive Branch officials at the National Archives, and to
the Legislative Branch, including to the Office of the President of the Sen-
ate, Vice President Mike Pence.?*!

The fake electors followed Chesebro’s step-by-step instructions for
completing and mailing the fake certificates to multiple officials in the U.S.
Government,**? complete with registered mail stickers and return address
labels identifying senders like the “Arizona Republican Party” and the
“Georgia Republican Party.” 2> The Wisconsin Republican Party’s fake cer-
tificates apparently weren’t properly delivered, however, so the Trump
Campaign arranged to fly them to Washington just before the joint session
on January 6th, and try to deliver them to the Vice President via Senator
Ron Johnson and Representative Mike Kelly’s offices.>** Both Johnson and
Kelly’s offices attempted to do so, but Vice President Pence’s aide refused
the delivery.?*>

Despite pressure from President Trump, Vice President Pence and the
Senate parliamentarian refused to recognize or count the unofficial fake
electoral votes. Greg Jacob testified that he advised Vice President Pence on
January 2nd that “none of the slates that had been sent in would qualify as
an alternate slate” under the law and that the Senate Parliamentarian “was
in agreement” with this conclusion.?3¢

k ok ok

In addition to this plan to create and transmit fake electoral slates,
Donald Trump was also personally and substantially involved in multiple
efforts to pressure State election officials and State legislatures to alter
official lawful election results. As U.S. District Judge Carter stated in his
June 7, 2022, opinion:
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Dr. Eastman’s actions in these few weeks [in December 2020] indi-
cate that his and President Trump’s pressure campaign to stop the
electoral count did not end with Vice President Pence—it targeted
every tier of federal and state elected officials. Convincing state leg-
islatures to certify competing electors was essential to stop the
count and ensure President Trump’s reelection.>*”

Judge Carter also explained that “Dr. Eastman and President Trump’s
plan to disrupt the Joint Session was fully formed and actionable as early as
December 7, 2020.” 238

Chapter 2 of this report provides substantial detail on many of Presi-
dent Trump’s specific efforts to apply pressure to State officials and legis-
lators. We provide a few examples here:

During a January 2, 2021, call, President Trump pressured Georgia’s
Republican Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger to “find 11,780 votes.”
During that call, President Trump asserted conspiracy theories about the
election that Department of Justice officials had already debunked. Presi-
dent Trump also made a thinly veiled threat to Raffensperger and his attor-
ney about his failure to respond to President Trump’s demands: “That’s a
criminal, that’s a criminal offense . . . That’s a big risk to you and to Ryan,
your lawyer . . . I’'m notifying you that you’re letting it happen.” 2*°

Judge Carter drew these conclusions:

Mr. Raffensperger debunked the President’s allegations “point by
point” and explained that “the data you have is wrong;” however,
President Trump still told him, “I just want to find 11,780 votes.” 24°

% %k 3k

President Trump’s repeated pleas for Georgia Secretary of State
Raffensperger clearly demonstrate that his justification was not to
investigate fraud, but to win the election. . . . Taken together, this
evidence demonstrates that President Trump likely knew the elec-
toral count plan had no factual justification. The plan not only
lacked factual basis but also legal justification.?*!

That call to Raffensperger came on the heels of President Trump’s
repeated attacks on Raffensperger, election workers, and other public ser-
vants about President Trump’s loss in the election. A month earlier, the
Georgia Secretary of State’s Chief Operating Officer, Gabriel Sterling, had
given this explicit public warning to President Trump and his team, a
warning that the Select Committee has determined President Trump appar-
ently saw and disregarded:*>

[I]t has all gone too far. All of it. . . .
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A 20-something tech in Gwinnett County today has death threats
and a noose put out, saying he should be hung for treason because
he was transferring a report on batches from an EMS to a county
computer so he could read it.

It has to stop.

Mr. President, you have not condemned these actions or this lan-
guage. Senators, you have not condemned this language or these
actions. This has to stop. We need you to step up. And if you’re
going to take a position of leadership, show some.

My boss, Secretary Raffensperger—his address is out there. They
have people doing caravans in front of their house, they’ve had
people come onto their property. Tricia, his wife of 40 years, is get-
ting sexualized threats through her cellphone.

It has to stop.

This is elections, this is the backbone of democracy, and all of you
who have not said a damn word are complicit in this. It’s too
much....

What you don’t have the ability to do—and you need to step up and
say this—is stop inspiring people to commit potential acts of vio-
lence. Someone’s going to get hurt. Someone’s going to get shot.
Someone’s going to get killed.?*?

The stark warning was entirely appropriate, and prescient. In addition
to the examples Sterling identified, President Trump and his team were also
fixated on Georgia election workers Ruby Freeman and Wandrea “Shaye”
Moss. He and Giuliani mentioned Freeman repeatedly in meetings with
State legislators, at public rallies, and in the January 2nd call with Raffens-
perger. Referring to a video clip, Giuliani even accused Freeman and Moss
of trading USB drives to affect votes “as if they [were] vials of heroin or
cocaine.” 2** This was completely bogus: it was not a USB drive; it was a
ginger mint.?*>

After their contact information was published, Trump supporters sent
hundreds of threats to the women and even showed up at Freeman’s
home.?*¢ As Freeman testified to the Select Committee, Trump and his fol-
lowers’ conduct had a profound impact on her life. She left her home based
on advice from the FBI, and wouldn’t move back for months.?*” And she
explained, “I’ve lost my sense of security—all because a group of people,
starting with Number 45 [Donald Trump] and his ally Rudy Giuliani,
decided to scapegoat me and my daughter Shaye to push their own lies
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Gabriel Sterling at a press conference on November 6, 2020 in Atlanta, Georgia.
(Photo by Jessica McGowan/Getty Images)

about how the Presidential election was stolen.” 2*® The treatment of Free-
man and Moss was callous, inhumane, and inexcusable. Rudolph Giuliani
and others with responsibility should be held accountable.

In Arizona, a primary target of President Trump’s pressure, and ire, was
House Speaker Russell “Rusty” Bowers, a longtime Republican who had
served 17 years in the State legislature. Throughout November and Decem-
ber, Bowers spoke to President Trump, Giuliani, and members of Giuliani’s
legal team, in person or on the phone. During these calls, President Trump
and others alleged that the results in Arizona were affected by fraud and
asked that Bowers consider replacing Presidential electors for Biden with
electors for President Trump.?*° Bowers demanded proof for the claims of
fraud, but never got it. At one point, after Bowers pressed Giuliani on the
claims of fraud, Giuliani responded, “we’ve got lots of theories, we just
don’t have the evidence.” 2°° Bowers explained to Giuliani: “You are asking
me do something against my oath, and I will not break my oath.” >

President Trump and his supporters’ intimidation tactics affected Bow-
ers, too. Bowers’s personal cell phone and home address were doxed,?>>
leading demonstrators to show up at his home and shout insults until
police arrived. One protestor who showed up at his home was armed and
believed to be a member of an extremist militia.>>> Another hired a truck
with a defamatory and profane allegation that Bowers, a deeply religious
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man, was a pedophile, and drove it through Bowers’s neighborhood.?**
This, again, is the conduct of thugs and criminals, each of whom should be
held accountable.

In Michigan, President Trump focused on Republican Senate Majority
Leader Mike Shirkey and Republican House Speaker Lee Chatfield. He
invited them to the White House for a November 20, 2020, meeting during
which President Trump and Giuliani, who joined by phone, went through a
“litany” of false allegations about supposed fraud in Michigan’s election.?>>
Chatfield recalled President Trump’s more generic directive for the group to
“have some backbone and do the right thing,” which he understood to
mean overturning the election by naming Michigan’s Electoral College
electors for President Trump.?>¢ Shirkey told President Trump that he
wouldn’t do anything that would violate Michigan law,%*” and after the
meeting ended, issued a joint statement with Chatfield: “We have not yet
been made aware of any information that would change the outcome of the
election in Michigan and as legislative leaders, we will follow the law and
follow the normal process regarding Michigan’s electors, just as we have
said throughout this election.” 2°®

When President Trump couldn’t convince Shirkey and Chatfield to
change the outcome of the election in Michigan during that meeting or in
calls after, he or his team maliciously tweeted out Shirkey’s personal cell
phone number and a number for Chatfield that turned out to be wrong.?>°
Shirkey received nearly 4,000 text messages after that, and another private
citizen reported being inundated with calls and texts intended for Chat-
field.?¢°

None of Donald Trump’s efforts ultimately succeeded in changing the
official results in any State. That these efforts had failed was apparent to
Donald Trump and his co-conspirators well before January 6th. By January
6th, there was no evidence at all that a majority of any State legislature
would even attempt to change its electoral votes.>*!

This past October, U.S. District Court Judge David Carter issued a further
ruling relating to one of President Trump’s lawsuits in Georgia. Judge
Carter applied the crime-fraud exception to attorney-client privilege again,
and identified potential criminal activity related to a knowingly false repre-
sentation by Donald Trump to a Federal court. He wrote:

The emails show that President Trump knew that the specific num-
bers of voter fraud were wrong but continued to tout those num-
bers, both in court and in public.262
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Steven Engel, Jeffrey Rosen and Richard Donoghue at a Select Committee hearing on June
23, 2022.

(Photo by House Creative Services)

As John Eastman wrote in an email on December 31, 2020, President
Trump was “made aware that some of the allegations (and evidence prof-
fered by the experts)” in a verified State court complaint was “inaccu-
rate.” 263 Dr. Eastman noted that “with that knowledge” President Trump
could not accurately verify a Federal court complaint that incorporated by
reference the “inaccurate” State court complaint: “I have no doubt that an
aggressive DA or US Atty someplace will go after both the President and his
lawyers once all the dust settles on this.” 25* Despite this specific warning,
“President Trump and his attorneys ultimately filed the complaint with the
same inaccurate numbers without rectifying, clarifying, or otherwise
changing them.” 26> And President Trump personally “signed a verification
swearing under oath that the incorporated, inaccurate numbers ‘are true
and correct’ or ‘believed to be true and correct’ to the best of his knowledge
and belief.” 26 The numbers were not correct, and President Trump and his
legal team knew it.

EFFORTS TO CORRUPT THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
In the weeks after the 2020 election, Attorney General Barr advised Presi-
dent Trump that the Department of Justice had not seen any evidence to
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support Trump’s theory that the election was stolen by fraud. Acting Attor-
ney General Jeffrey Rosen and his Deputy repeatedly reinforced to President
Trump that his claims of election fraud were false when they took over in
mid-December. Also in mid-December 2020, Attorney General Barr
announced his plans to resign. Between that time and January 6th, Trump
spoke with Acting Attorney General Jeff Rosen and Acting Deputy Richard
Donoghue repeatedly, attempting to persuade them and the Department of
Justice to find factual support for his stolen election claims and thereby to
assist his efforts to reverse election results.

As Rosen publicly testified, «. .. between December 23rd and January
3rd, the President either called me or met with me virtually every day, with
one or two exceptions, like Christmas Day.” 2¢7 As discussed earlier, Justice
Department investigations had demonstrated that the stolen election
claims were false; both Rosen and Donoghue told President Trump this
comprehensively and repeatedly.

One of those conversations occurred on December 27th, when President
Trump called Rosen to go through a “stream of allegations” about the elec-
tion.?%® Donoghue described that call as an “escalation of the earlier con-
versations” they had.?¢° Initially, President Trump called Rosen directly.
When Donoghue joined the call, he sought to “make it clear to the President
[that] these allegations were simply not true.” 27°

So [the President] went through [the allegations]—in what for me
was a 90-minute conversation or so, and what for the former Acting
AG was a 2-hour conversation—as the President went through
them I went piece by piece to say “no, that’s false, that is not true,”
and to correct him really in a serial fashion as he moved from one
theory to another.?”*

The President raised, among others, debunked claims about voting
machines in Michigan, a truck driver who allegedly moved ballots from
New York to Pennsylvania, and a purported election fraud at the State Farm
Arena in Georgia.>’> None of the allegations were credible, and Rosen and
Donoghue said so to the President.?”?

At one point during the December 27th call in which Donoghue refuted
President Trump’s fraud allegations, Donoghue recorded in handwritten
notes a request President Trump made specifically to him and Acting Attor-
ney General Rosen: “Just say the election was corrupt and leave the rest to
me and the Republican Congressmen.” 2’4 Donoghue explained: “[T]he
Department had zero involvement in anyone’s political strategy,” and “he
wanted us to say that it was corrupt.” 2”> “We told him we were not going to
do that.” 276 At the time, neither Rosen nor Donoghue knew the full extent
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to which Republican Congressmen, including Representative Scott Perry,
were attempting to assist President Trump to overturn the election results.

The Committee’s investigation has shown that Congressman Perry was
working with one Department of Justice official, Jeffrey Clark, regarding the
stolen election claims. Perry was working with Clark and with President
Trump and Chief of Staff Mark Meadows with this goal: to enlist Clark to
reverse the Department of Justice’s findings regarding the election and help
overturn the election outcome.?””

After introducing Clark to the President, Perry sent multiple text mes-
sages to Meadows between December 26th and December 28th, pressing
that Clark be elevated within the Department. Perry reminded Meadows
that there are only “11 days to 1/6 . . . We gotta get going!,” and, as the days
went on, one asking, “Did you call Jeff Clark?” 278

Acting Attorney General Rosen first learned about Clark’s contact with
President Trump in a call on Christmas Eve. On that call, President Trump
mentioned Clark to Rosen, who was surprised to learn that Trump knew
Clark and had met with him. Rosen later confronted Clark about the con-
tact: “Jeff, anything going on that you think I should know about?” 27°
Clark didn’t “immediately volunteer” the fact that he had met with the
President, but ultimately “acknowledged that he had been at a meeting
with the President in the Oval Office, not alone, with other people.” 28°
Clark was “kind of defensive” and “somewhat apologetic,” “casting it as
that he had had a meeting with Congressman Perry from Pennsylvania and
that, to his surprise, or, you know, he hadn’t anticipated it, that they some-
how wound up at a meeting in the Oval Office.” 2! Clark’s contact with
President Trump violated both Justice Department and White House poli-
cies designed to prevent political pressure on the Department.?52

While Clark initially appeared apologetic and assured Rosen that “[i]t
won’t happen again,” 282 he nevertheless continued to work and meet
secretly with President Trump and Congressman Perry. Less than five days
after assuring Rosen that he would comply with the Department’s White
House contacts policy, Clark told Rosen and Donoghue that he had again
violated that policy. Donoghue confronted him: “I reminded him that I was
his boss and that I had directed him to do otherwise.” 28

Around the same time, Representative Perry called Acting Deputy
Attorney General Donoghue, criticized the FBI, and suggested that the
Department hadn’t been doing its job. Perry told Donoghue that Clark
“would do something about this.” 28

On December 28th, Clark worked with a Department employee named
Kenneth Klukowski—a political appointee who had earlier worked with
John Eastman—to produce a draft letter from the Justice Department to the
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State legislature of Georgia.”®® That letter mirrored a number of the posi-
tions President Trump and Eastman were taking at the time.?®” (Although
both Clark and Eastman refused to answer questions by asserting their Fifth
Amendment right against self-incrimination, evidence shows that Clark
and Eastman were in communication in this period leading up to January
6th.288 The draft letter to Georgia was intended to be one of several Depart-
ment letters to State legislatures in swing States that had voted for
Biden.>®?

The letter read: “The Department of Justice is investigating various
irregularities in the 2020 election for President of the United States.” 2%°
Clark continued: “The Department will update you as we are able on inves-
tigatory progress, but at this time we have identified significant concerns
that may have impacted the outcome of the election in multiple States,
including the State of Georgia.” 2°! This was affirmatively untrue. The
Department had conducted many investigations of election fraud allega-
tions by that point, but it absolutely did not have “significant concerns”
that fraud “may have impacted the outcome of the election” in any State.
Jeff Clark knew this; Donoghue confirmed it again in an email responding
to Clark’s letter: “[W]e simply do not currently have a basis to make such a
statement. Despite dramatic claims to the contrary, we have not seen the
type of fraud that calls into question the reported (and certified) results of
the election.” 292

The letter also explicitly recommended that Georgia’s State legislature
should call a special session to evaluate potential election fraud. “In light of
these developments, the Department recommends that the Georgia General
Assembly should convene in special session so that its legislators are in a
special position to take additional testimony, receive new evidence, and
deliberate on the matter consistent with its duties under the U.S. Constitu-
tiOl’l.” 293

Clark’s draft letter also referenced the fake electors that President
Trump and his campaign organized—arguing falsely that there were cur-
rently two competing slates of legitimate Presidential electors in Geor-
gia:2%

The Department believes that in Georgia and several other States,
both a slate of electors supporting Joseph R. Biden, Jr., and a sepa-
rate slate of electors supporting Donald J. Trump, gathered on
[December 14, 2020] at the proper location to cast their ballots, and
that both sets of those ballots have been transmitted to Washing-
ton, D.C., to be opened by Vice President Pence.?°>

This, of course, was part of Donald Trump and John Eastman’s plan for
January 6th. This letter reflects an effort to use the Department of Justice to
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help overturn the election outcome in Georgia and elsewhere. Rosen and
Donoghue reacted immediately to this draft letter:

“[T]here’s no chance that I would sign this letter or anything remotely
like this,” Donoghue wrote.>*® The plan set forth by Clark was “not even
within the realm of possibility,” 2°7 and Donoghue warned that if they sent
Clark’s letter, it “would be a grave step for the Department to take and it
could have tremendous Constitutional, political and social ramifications for
the country.” 298

As Richard Donoghue testified when describing his response to Clark’s
proposed letter:

Well, T had to read both the email and the attached letter twice to
make sure I really understood what he was proposing because it was
so extreme to me I had a hard time getting my head around it ini-
tially.

But I read it, and I did understand it for what he intended, and I had
to sit down and sort of compose what I thought was an appropriate
response. . ..

In my response I explained a number of reasons this is not the
Department’s role to suggest or dictate to State legislatures how
they should select their electors. But more importantly, this was not
based on fact. This was actually contrary to the facts as developed
by Department investigations over the last several weeks and
months.

So, I respond to that. And for the department to insert itself into the
political process this way I think would have had grave conse-
quences for the country. It may very well have spiraled us into a
constitutional crisis.?°

Rosen and Donoghue also met with Clark about the letter. Their conver-
sation “was a very difficult and contentious” one, according to Dono-
ghue.?°° “What you’re proposing is nothing less than the United States
Justice Department meddling in the outcome of a Presidential election,”
Do